ACNB CORP Form DEF 14A March 27, 2018

Use these links to rapidly review the document <u>TABLE OF CONTENTS</u>

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

(Rule 14a-101)

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.)

Filed by the Registrant ý

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o

Check the Appropriate Box:

- o Preliminary Proxy Statement
- o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- ý Definitive Proxy Statement
- o Definitive Additional Materials
- o Soliciting Material Under Rule 14a-12

ACNB Corporation

(Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

- ý No fee required.
- o Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.

(1	1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:				
(2	2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:				
(3	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (Set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):				
(4	4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:				
(:	5) Total fee paid:				
F	ee paid previously with preliminary materials:				
	Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.				
(!	1) Amount Previously paid:				
(2	2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:				
(:	3) Filing Party:				
(4	4) Date Filed:				

o

_	-				\sim			
1	3	h	e	of	(``	m	ter	ıtc

March 27, 2018

Dear Fellow Shareholders of ACNB Corporation:

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to invite you to attend our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on Tuesday, May 1, 2018, at 1:00 p.m., prevailing time, at the ACNB Corporation Operations Center, 100 V-Twin Drive, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania 17325. At the annual meeting, you will have the opportunity to ask questions and to make comments. Enclosed with the proxy statement is the notice of meeting, proxy card, ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Review, and ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The principal business of the meeting is to fix the number of Directors of ACNB Corporation at fifteen (15); to fix the number of Class 1 Directors at five (5); to fix the number of Class 2 Directors at six (6); to fix the number of Class 3 Directors at four (4); to elect six (6) Class 2 Directors to serve for terms of three (3) years and until their successors are elected and qualified; to elect one (1) Class 1 Director to serve for a term of one (1) year and until his successor is elected and qualified; to conduct a non-binding vote on executive compensation; to approve and adopt an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 10 regarding the classification of the Board of Directors; to approve and adopt an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 11 regarding fixing the number of Directors that constitute the whole Board of Directors by the shareholders; to approve and adopt an amendment to the Bylaws to add new Article II, Sections 204 and 205, classifying the Board of Directors and granting the Board of Directors authority to fix the number of Directors that constitutes the Board of Directors as a whole and the number of Directors in each class; to approve and adopt an amendment to current Article II, Section 204, of the Bylaws and thereafter renumber it as Section 206 to allow Directors appointed or elected to vacancies on the Board of Directors to serve until the expiration of the term of office of the class to which the Director was appointed or elected; to approve and ratify the ACNB Corporation 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan; to ratify the selection of RSM US LLP as ACNB Corporation's independent registered public accounting firm; and, to transact any other business that is properly presented at the annual meeting. The notice of meeting and proxy statement accompanying this letter describe the specific business to be acted upon in more detail.

Whether or not you plan to attend the annual meeting, I urge you to vote as soon as possible by completing, signing and returning the enclosed proxy card in the envelope provided or to vote via the internet or telephone. Your prompt vote will save the Corporation expenses involved in further communications. Your vote is important. Voting by written proxy, internet or telephone will ensure your representation at the annual meeting if you do not attend in person.

I look forward to seeing you on May 1, 2018, at the Corporation's annual meeting.

Sincerely,

James P. Helt

President & Chief Executive Officer

[This page intentionally left blank.]

ACNB CORPORATION

NASDAQ TRADING SYMBOL: ACNB

acnb.com

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

AND

PROXY STATEMENT

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS	PAGE
GENERAL INFORMATION	
VOTING PROCEDURES	1
GOVERNANCE OF THE CORPORATION	<u>1</u>
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	<u>4</u>
SHARE OWNERSHIP	8
COMPENSATION AND PLAN INFORMATION	<u>14</u>
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT.	<u>17</u>
	<u>33</u>
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OF GUANGE IN CONTROL	<u>34</u>
POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL	<u>42</u>
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION	<u>46</u>
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT	<u>46</u>
INTRODUCTION TO PROPOSALS 8 THROUGH 11	<u>48</u>
PROPOSAL NO. 8: AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION TO REMOVE AND DELETE ARTICLE 10 REGARDING THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS	<u>48</u>
PROPOSAL NO. 9: AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION TO REMOVE AND DELETE ARTICLE 11 REGARDING FIXING THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS THAT CONSTITUTE THE WHOLE BOARD OF DIRECTORS	
BY THE SHAREHOLDERS PROPOSAL NO. 10: AMENDMENT TO THE BYLAWS TO ADD NEW ARTICLE II, SECTIONS 204 AND 205,	<u>49</u>
CLASSIFYING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND GRANTING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AUTHORITY TO FIX	
THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS THAT CONSTITUTES THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS A WHOLE AND THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS IN EACH CLASS	<u>50</u>
PROPOSAL NO. 11: AMENDMENT TO CURRENT ARTICLE II, SECTION 204, OF THE BYLAWS AND THEREAFTER RENUMBER IT AS SECTION 206 TO ALLOW DIRECTORS APPOINTED OR ELECTED TO	
VACANCIES ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO SERVE UNTIL THE EXPIRATION OF THE TERM OF OFFICE OF THE CLASS TO WHICH THE DIRECTOR WAS APPOINTED OR ELECTED	<u>52</u>
PROPOSAL NO. 12: APPROVAL AND RATIFICATION OF THE ACNB CORPORATION 2018 OMNIBUS STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN	<u>53</u>
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS	<u>60</u>
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE	<u></u>
<u>PROPOSALS</u>	<u>61</u>
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	
OTHER MATTERS	<u>64</u>
ACNB CORPORATION 2018 OMNIBUS STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN	64 EVHIRIT A

Proxy Statement

Dated and to be mailed to shareholders on or about March 27, 2018.

Table of Contents

ACNB CORPORATION 16 LINCOLN SQUARE P.O. BOX 3129 GETTYSBURG, PENNSYLVANIA 17325 (717) 334-3161

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON MAY 1, 2018

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ACNB CORPORATION:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of ACNB Corporation will be held at the ACNB Corporation Operations Center, 100 V-Twin Drive, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania 17325 on Tuesday, May 1, 2018, at 1:00 p.m., prevailing time, for the purpose of considering and voting upon the following matters:

1. To fix the number of Directors of ACNB Corporation at fifteen (15); 2. To fix the number of Class 1 Directors at five (5); 3. To fix the number of Class 2 Directors at six (6); 4. To fix the number of Class 3 Directors at four (4); 5. To elect six (6) Class 2 Directors to serve for terms of three (3) years and until their successors are elected and qualified; 6. To elect one (1) Class 1 Director to serve for a term of one (1) year and until his successor is elected and qualified; 7. To conduct a non-binding vote on executive compensation; 8. To approve and adopt an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 10 regarding the classification of the Board of Directors; 9. To approve and adopt an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 11 regarding fixing the number of Directors that constitute the whole Board of Directors by the shareholders; 10. To approve and adopt an amendment to the Bylaws to add new Article II, Sections 204 and 205, classifying the Board of Directors and granting the Board of Directors authority to fix the number of Directors that constitutes the Board of Directors as a whole and the number of Directors in each class: 11. To approve and adopt an amendment to current Article II, Section 204, of the Bylaws and thereafter renumber it as

Section 206 to allow Directors appointed or elected to vacancies on the Board of Directors to serve until the expiration of the

term of office of the class to which the Director was appointed or elected;

To approve and ratify the ACNB Corporation 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan;

- 13.

 To ratify the selection of RSM US LLP as ACNB Corporation's independent registered public accounting firm; and,
- 14.
 To transact such other business as may properly come before the 2018 Annual Meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Only those shareholders of record, at the close of business on March 12, 2018, are entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting.

Please promptly sign the enclosed proxy card and return it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope or vote by internet or telephone. We cordially invite you to attend the meeting. Your proxy is revocable

Table of Contents

and you may withdraw it at any time prior to it being voted. You may deliver notice of revocation or deliver a later dated proxy to the Secretary of the Corporation before the vote at the meeting.

The Corporation's Board of Directors is distributing the proxy statement, proxy card, ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Review, and ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K on or about March 27, 2018.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,

James P. Helt

President & Chief Executive Officer

Gettysburg, Pennsylvania March 27, 2018

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT.
PLEASE VOTE YOUR PROXY TODAY.

Table of Contents

PROXY STATEMENT

GENERAL INFORMATION

Date, Time and Place of the Annual Meeting

ACNB Corporation, a Pennsylvania business corporation and registered financial holding company, furnishes this proxy statement in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of proxies to be voted at the Corporation's Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on Tuesday, May 1, 2018, at 1:00 p.m., prevailing time, at the ACNB Corporation Operations Center, 100 V-Twin Drive, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania 17325. Included with this proxy statement is a copy of ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Review and ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.

The Corporation's principal executive office is located at 16 Lincoln Square, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania 17325. The Corporation's telephone number is (717) 334-3161. All inquiries regarding the annual meeting should be directed to Lynda L. Glass, Executive Vice President/Secretary & Chief Governance Officer of ACNB Corporation, at (717) 339-5085.

Description of ACNB Corporation

ACNB Corporation was formed in 1982 and became the holding company for the banking subsidiary in 1983. ACNB Corporation's wholly-owned banking subsidiary is ACNB Bank, a Pennsylvania state-chartered bank and trust company, formerly Adams County National Bank. The Corporation's primary activity consists of owning and supervising its banking subsidiary.

The Corporation also owns and supervises Russell Insurance Group, Inc. as its insurance agency subsidiary.

We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information about the Corporation; therefore, you should rely only on the information contained in this document or on documents to which we refer you. Although we believe we have provided you with all the information helpful to you in your decision to vote, events may occur at ACNB Corporation subsequent to printing this proxy statement that might affect your decision or the value of your stock.

Internet Availability of Proxy Materials

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Shareholder Meeting to Be Held on May 1, 2018. The notice of meeting, proxy statement, proxy card, ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Review, and ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K are available at *acnb.com* under the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation tab or directly at https://www.acnb.com/acnb-corporation.

VOTING PROCEDURES

Solicitation and Voting of Proxies

The Board of Directors solicits this proxy for use at the Corporation's 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The Corporation's directors and officers and ACNB Bank employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone, facsimile, email or other similar electronic means without additional compensation. The Corporation will pay the cost of preparing, assembling, printing, mailing and soliciting proxies and any additional material that the Corporation sends to its shareholders. The Corporation will make arrangements with brokerage firms and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries to forward proxy solicitation materials to the beneficial owners of stock held by these entities, as well as will reimburse these third parties for their reasonable forwarding expenses. This proxy statement and the related proxy card are being distributed on or about March 27, 2018.

Table of Contents

Shareholders of record at the close of business on March 12, 2018 (the annual meeting record date), are entitled to vote at the meeting. The Corporation's records show that, as of the annual meeting record date, 7,023,658 shares of the Corporation's common stock, par value \$2.50 per share, were outstanding. On all matters to come before the annual meeting, shareholders may cast one (1) vote for each share held. Cumulative voting rights do not exist with respect to the election of directors.

You may vote your shares by completing and returning a written proxy card or voting by internet or telephone. You may also vote in person at the meeting. Submitting your voting instructions by returning a proxy card, internet or telephone will not affect your right to attend the meeting and vote, if you later decide to attend in person. If your shares are registered directly in your name with ACNB Corporation's transfer agent, Computershare, you are considered, with respect to those shares, the shareholder of record, and these proxy materials are being sent directly to you by the Corporation. As the shareholder of record, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to the proxyholders or to vote in person at the meeting. The Corporation has enclosed a proxy card, as well as instructions to vote by internet or telephone, for your use.

If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other nominee, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name, and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by your broker or nominee which is considered, with respect to those shares, the shareholder of record. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker or nominee how to vote and you are also invited to attend the meeting. However, because you are not the shareholder of record, you may not vote your street name shares in person at the meeting, unless you obtain a proxy executed in your favor from the holder of record. Your broker or nominee has enclosed a voting instruction card for you to use in directing the broker or nominee how to vote your shares.

By properly completing a proxy, you appoint J. Emmett Patterson and James E. Williams as proxyholders to vote your shares, as indicated on the proxy card. Any signed proxy card or vote by internet or telephone not specifying to the contrary will be voted **FOR**:

- 1. Fixing the number of Directors of ACNB Corporation at fifteen (15);
- 2. Fixing the number of Class 1 Directors at five (5);
- 3. Fixing the number of Class 2 Directors at six (6);
- 4. Fixing the number of Class 3 Directors at four (4);
- 5. Electing six (6) Class 2 Directors to serve for terms of three (3) years and until their successors are elected and qualified;
- 6. Electing one (1) Class 1 Director to serve for a term of one (1) year and until his successor is elected and qualified;
- 7. Approving the non-binding vote on executive compensation;
- Approving and adopting an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 10 regarding the classification of the Board of Directors;
- Approving and adopting an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 11 regarding fixing the number of Directors that constitute the whole Board of Directors by the shareholders;
- 10.

 Approving and adopting an amendment to the Bylaws to add new Article II, Sections 204 and 205, classifying the Board of Directors and granting the Board of Directors authority to fix the number of Directors that constitutes the Board of Directors as a whole and the number of Directors in each class;

Table of Contents

- 11.

 Approving and adopting an amendment to current Article II, Section 204, of the Bylaws and thereafter renumber it as Section 206 to allow Directors appointed or elected to vacancies on the Board of Directors to serve until the expiration of the term of office of the class to which the Director was appointed or elected;
- 12. Approving and ratifying the ACNB Corporation 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan; and,
- 13. Ratifying the selection of RSM US LLP as ACNB Corporation's independent registered public accounting firm.

You may revoke your written proxy by delivering written notice of revocation to Lynda L. Glass, Executive Vice President/Secretary & Chief Governance Officer of the Corporation, by executing a later dated proxy and giving written notice of the revocation to Ms. Glass or voting again by internet or telephone at any time before the proxy is voted at the meeting. Proxyholders will vote shares represented by proxies on the accompanying proxy card, if properly signed and returned, or by internet or telephone in accordance with instructions from shareholders.

Although the Board of Directors knows of no other business to be presented, in the event that any other matters are properly brought before the meeting, any proxy given pursuant to this solicitation will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors.

Quorum and Vote Required for Approval

As of the close of business on March 12, 2018, the Corporation had 7,023,658 shares of common stock, par value \$2.50 per share, outstanding.

Under Pennsylvania law and ACNB Corporation's Bylaws, the presence of a quorum is required for each matter to be acted upon at the meeting. A majority of the outstanding shares of common stock, represented in person or by proxy, constitutes a quorum. Votes withheld and abstentions are counted in determining the presence of a quorum for a particular matter. Broker non-votes are not counted in determining the presence of a quorum for a particular matter as to which the broker withheld authority. Each share is entitled to one (1) vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders. All matters to be voted upon by the shareholders require the affirmative vote of a majority of shares voted, in person or by proxy, at the annual meeting, except in cases where the vote of a greater number of shares is required by law or under ACNB Corporation's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws. In the case of the election of directors, the candidates receiving the highest number of votes are elected. Shareholders are not entitled to cumulate votes for the election of directors.

If a quorum is present, fixing the number of directors of the Board of Directors, fixing the number of directors in each class, approving the non-binding proposal on executive compensation, and ratifying the independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2018, requires the affirmative "FOR" vote of a majority of all votes cast, in person or by proxy. Abstentions and broker non-votes are not deemed to constitute "votes cast" and, therefore, do not count either for or against the proposals. Abstentions and broker non-votes, however, have the practical effect of reducing the number of affirmative votes required to achieve a majority for the matter by reducing the total number of shares voted from which the required majority is calculated.

If a quorum is present, the shareholders will elect the nominees for director receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes cast by those shareholders entitled to vote for the election of directors. The proxyholders will not cast votes for or against any director nominees when the broker withheld authority.

If a quorum is present, approval and adoption of the amendments to the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and approval and ratification of the ACNB Corporation 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive

Table of Contents

Plan each require the affirmative "FOR" vote of at least a majority of the votes cast at the annual meeting.

GOVERNANCE OF THE CORPORATION

Our Board of Directors believes that the purpose of corporate governance is to ensure that we maximize shareholder value in a manner consistent with legal requirements and the highest standards of integrity. The Board has adopted and adheres to corporate governance practices which the Board and executive management believe promote this purpose, are sound, and represent best practices. We continually review these governance practices, Pennsylvania law (the state in which we are incorporated), rules and listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market, SEC regulations, as well as best practices suggested by recognized governance authorities. Currently, our Board of Directors has fifteen (15) members. Under the SEC and Nasdaq standards for independence, except for Messrs. Ritter and Seibel, all non-employee directors and nominees meet the standards for independence. This constitutes more than a majority of our Board of Directors. Only independent directors serve on our Audit Committee, Nominating Committee, and Compensation Committee.

Leadership Structure

The Corporation chooses to separate the roles of Chairman and President & Chief Executive Officer. The President & Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing the strategic direction of the Corporation, as determined by the Board of Directors, and for the day-to-day leadership and performance of the Corporation. The Chairman oversees the agenda for and presides over Board of Director meetings, as well as provides leadership to the Board and facilitates communication between the Board of Directors and executive management. The Corporation's Chairman of the Board is considered independent under the SEC and Nasdaq standards for independence.

Risk Oversight

The Board of Directors has a role in overseeing the Corporation's risks as a whole and at the committee level. The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for overseeing the risks the Corporation faces on behalf of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee works closely with the Corporation's Chairman of the Board, President & Chief Executive Officer, and ACNB Bank's Chief Risk & Governance Officer, as well as with other members of management with respect to matters relating to risk management. The Audit Committee receives reports on risk management and the processes in place to monitor and control such exposures. The Audit Committee may also receive updates, from time to time, between meetings from management relating to risk oversight matters. The Audit Committee provides updates on its risk management activities to the full Board of Directors via the committee's meeting minutes. Further, members of management may make presentations on risk management to the full Board of Directors or another committee of the Board of Directors.

In addition to the Audit Committee, other committees of the Board of Directors consider the risks within their areas of responsibility. For example, the Compensation Committee considers the risks that may be implicated by the Corporation's compensation practices. Also, the Strategic Planning Committee assesses the risks associated with the Corporation's executive management succession plans.

Director Independence

In determining each director's and nominee's independence, the Board of Directors considered loan transactions between ACNB Bank and the individuals, their family members, and businesses with which they are associated. The table below includes a description of other categories or types of transactions, relationships or arrangements considered by the Board (in addition to those listed above

Table of Contents

and those transactions set forth under "Transactions with Directors and Executive Officers" below) in reaching its determination that the directors are independent.

		Other Transactions/
Name	Independent	Relationships/Arrangements
Richard L. Alloway II	Yes	None
Frank Elsner, III	Yes	None
Todd L. Herring	Yes	None
Scott L. Kelley	Yes	Legal Services
James J. Lott	Yes	None
Donna M. Newell	Yes	None
J. Emmett Patterson	Yes	None
Daniel W. Potts	Yes	None
Marian B. Schultz	Yes	None
David L. Sites	Yes	Vendor Relationship
Alan J. Stock	Yes	Vendor Relationship
James E. Williams	Yes	Vendor Relationship

In each case, the Board of Directors determined that none of the transactions impaired the independence of the director.

Directors of ACNB Corporation

The following table sets forth, as of March 12, 2018 (in alphabetical order), selected information about the Corporation's directors and director nominees.

Name	Class of Director	Director Since	Age as of March 12, 2018
Richard L. Alloway II	2	2015	50
Frank Elsner, III, Chairman	3	2002	57
James P. Helt	3	2017	51
Todd L. Herring	1	2017	56
Scott L. Kelley	3	2012	66
James J. Lott	1	2007	55
Donna M. Newell	2	2012	47
J. Emmett Patterson	1	2012	70
Daniel W. Potts	3	2004	65
Thomas A. Ritter	2	2001	66
Marian B. Schultz	1	1992	68
D. Arthur Seibel, Jr.	2	2017	59
David L. Sites	2	2010	62
Alan J. Stock, Vice Chairman	2	2005	60
James E. Williams	1	2007	64
			5

Table of Contents

Executive Officers of ACNB Corporation and/or Subsidiary

The following table sets forth, as of March 12, 2018, selected information about the Corporation's Executive Officers, each of whom is appointed by the Board of Directors and each of whom holds office at the Board's discretion.

Name and Position	Position Held	Age as of March 12, 2018
James P. Helt		
President & Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Corporation	2017-Present	51
Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Bank	2017-Present	
President of ACNB Bank	2015-Present	
Executive Vice President of Banking Services of ACNB Bank	2008-2015	
Lynda L. Glass		
Chief Governance Officer	2011-Present	57
Secretary	2008-Present	
Secretary & Treasurer	2006-2008	
Executive Vice President	2003-Present	
Assistant Secretary	1993-2003	
David W. Cathell		
Executive Vice President/Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer	2008-Present	63
Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer	2007-2008	
Principal Financial Officer	2006-2007	
Douglas A. Seibel		
Executive Vice President/Chief Lending & Revenue Officer of ACNB Bank	2016-Present	57
Senior Vice President/Commercial Lending Manager	2008-2015	
Frank C. Russell, Jr.		
President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.	2005-Present	69
	a	

Director D. Arthur Seibel, Jr. is the brother of Douglas A. Seibel, Executive Vice President/Chief Lending & Revenue Officer of ACNB Bank.

Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of ACNB Corporation met twelve (12) times during 2017. The Corporation maintains an Audit Committee (which is established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), Executive Committee, Compensation Committee, Nominating Committee, and Strategic Planning Committee. A total of thirty-six (36) Board and committee meetings of the Corporation's Board of Directors were held in 2017. During 2017, each of the directors attended at least 75% of the combined total number of meetings of the Corporation's Board of Directors and the committees of which he or she was a member. The Board of Directors has a written attendance policy statement which encourages and expects each director to attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Twelve (12) of thirteen (13) directors attended the 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Audit Committee. Members of the Audit Committee are Daniel W. Potts, who served as Chair, Richard L. Alloway II, Frank Elsner, III, Donna M. Newell, J. Emmett Patterson, Marian B. Schultz and David L. Sites. Each of these directors is "independent" as defined in the SEC and Nasdaq standards for independence. In addition, James P. Helt, David W. Cathell, Lynda L. Glass and Thomas A. Ritter, until his retirement effective May 5, 2017, were invited to attend committee meetings. The principal duties of the Audit Committee, as set forth in its charter, include reviewing the

Table of Contents

Corporation's financial reporting process and systems of internal accounting and financial controls; reviewing significant audit and accounting principles, policies and practices; reviewing performance of internal auditing procedures; overseeing risk management; and, recommending annually to the Board of Directors the engagement of an independent auditor. The Audit Committee has a charter which is available under the Corporate Governance Documents section of the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation page of ACNB Bank's website at www.acnb.com. The Audit Committee met five (5) times during 2017.

Executive Committee. Members of the Executive Committee are Frank Elsner, III, who served as Chair, Daniel W. Potts, Marian B. Schultz, David L. Sites, Alan J. Stock and James E. Williams. Each of these directors is "independent" as defined in the SEC and Nasdaq standards for independence. In addition, James P. Helt, David W. Cathell, Lynda L. Glass and Douglas A. Seibel were invited to attend committee meetings. The principal duties of the Executive Committee are to act on behalf of the Board between meetings and to evaluate governance issues. The Executive Committee has a charter which is available under the Corporate Governance Documents section of the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation page of ACNB Bank's website at www.acnb.com. The Executive Committee met one (1) time during 2017.

Compensation Committee. Members of the Compensation Committee are James E. Williams, who served as Chair, Frank Elsner, III, Todd L. Herring, Scott L. Kelley, James J. Lott, J. Emmett Patterson, Marian B. Schultz and Alan J. Stock. Each of these directors is "independent" as defined in the SEC and Nasdaq standards for independence. The principal duties of the Compensation Committee include evaluating and recommending to the Board of Directors the executive officer compensation plans, policies and programs of the Corporation. The Compensation Committee has a charter which is available under the Corporate Governance Documents section of the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation page of ACNB Bank's website at www.acnb.com. The Compensation Committee met eight (8) times during 2017.

Nominating Committee. Members of the Nominating Committee are Marian B. Schultz, who served as Chair, Richard L. Alloway II, Frank Elsner, III, Donna M. Newell, Alan J. Stock and James E. Williams. Each of these directors is "independent" as defined in the SEC and Nasdaq standards for independence. The principal duties of the Nominating Committee include identifying qualified individuals to serve on the Board and recommending nominees to the Board. The Nominating Committee has a charter which is available under the Corporate Governance Documents section of the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation page of ACNB Bank's website at www.acnb.com. The Nominating Committee met two (2) times during 2017.

Strategic Planning Committee. Members of the Strategic Planning Committee are Frank Elsner, III, who served as Chair, James P. Helt, Daniel W. Potts, Marian B. Schultz, David L. Sites, Alan J. Stock and James E. Williams. The principal duties of the Strategic Planning Committee include overseeing the development of and monitoring the progress of the Corporation's strategic plan; keeping the Board of Directors informed of developments, trends and opportunities in the industry that might help improve the Corporation's profitability, growth and/or customer service; and, establishing Board and senior management succession plans. The Strategic Planning Committee has a charter which is available under the Corporate Governance Documents section of the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation page of ACNB Bank's website at www.acnb.com. The Strategic Planning Committee met eight (8) times during 2017.

Shareholder Communications

The Board of Directors has formal shareholder communications processes for the submission of shareholder proposals and nomination of directors, as described below. In addition, shareholders may contact any member of the Board personally, by telephone or by written correspondence including

Table of Contents

email. Written communications received by the Corporation from shareholders are shared with the full Board as deemed appropriate.

Submission of Shareholder Proposals

In order for a shareholder proposal (other than director nominations) to be considered for inclusion in ACNB Corporation's proxy statement for next year's annual meeting, the written proposal must be received by the Corporation no later than November 27, 2018. Proposals may be sent to Lynda L. Glass, Executive Vice President/Secretary & Chief Governance Officer of ACNB Corporation, at 16 Lincoln Square, P.O. Box 3129, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania 17325.

All proposals must comply with SEC regulations regarding the inclusion of shareholder proposals in company-sponsored proxy materials. If a shareholder proposal is submitted to the Corporation after November 27, 2018, it is considered untimely; and, although the proposal may be considered at the annual meeting, the Corporation is not obligated to include it in the 2019 proxy statement.

Employee Code of Ethics

Since May 1994, ACNB Bank, formerly Adams County National Bank, has had a Conflict of Interest/Code of Ethics. In 2003, as required by law and regulation, the Corporation's Board of Directors adopted a Code of Ethics which is applicable to our directors, officers and employees, and which has been amended as necessary from time to time.

The Code of Ethics encourages individuals to report any conduct that they believe in good faith to be an actual or apparent violation of the Code of Ethics to ACNB Corporation's Chief Governance Officer. The Code of Ethics is available under the Corporate Governance Documents section of the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation page of ACNB Bank's website at www.acnb.com.

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Nomination of Directors

The Corporation has a standing Nominating Committee with a charter. Recommendations to the Board of Directors as to the nominees for election as directors at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders are provided by the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee will consider shareholder-recommended nominees for director, and shareholders who desire to propose an individual for consideration by the Board of Directors as a nominee for director should submit a recommendation in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation in compliance with the requirements of Article II, Sections 202, 203 and 205(b), of the Corporation's Bylaws. Any shareholder who intends to nominate a candidate for election to the Board of Directors must notify the Secretary of the Corporation in writing not less than fourteen (14) days prior to the date of any shareholder meeting called for the election of directors.

Qualification and Nomination of Directors

The Corporation's Articles of Incorporation authorize the number of directors to be not less than five (5) and not more than twenty-five (25). Further, the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide for three (3) classes of directors with staggered terms of office of three (3) years that expire at successive annual meetings. Pursuant to Article II, Section 205, of the Corporation's Bylaws, no director or nominee shall stand for election, if as of the date of election, he or she shall have attained the age of seventy-two (72) years old. Currently, the number of directors is set at sixteen (16): Class 1 consists of five (5) directors and one (1) vacancy, Class 2 consists of six (6) directors, and Class 3 consists of four (4) directors. However, pursuant to Article 11 of the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation and Article I, Section 105, of the Corporation's Bylaws, at each shareholder meeting for

Table of Contents

the election of directors, the shareholders determine how many directors will be elected to serve in each class.

The Board of Directors believes that it is in the Corporation's best interest to fix the number of directors at the 2018 Annual Meeting at fifteen (15). The proposed fifteen (15) member Board of Directors will consist of five (5) Class 1 Directors, six (6) Class 2 Directors, and four (4) Class 3 Directors. Shareholders will elect six (6) Class 2 Directors to serve for terms of three (3) years until their successors are elected and qualified and one (1) Class 1 Director to serve for a term of one (1) year until his successor is elected and qualified.

The Nominating Committee believes that a director nominee must have the following attributes/qualifications before being recommended as a nominee: stock ownership in the Corporation, the willingness to commit time, a commitment to independence, a commitment to the Corporation's community, financial competence, a good reputation, integrity, good communication skills, and the willingness and ability to speak up for the interests of the Corporation. A director nominee shall also have expertise that strengthens the Board of Directors. When evaluating potential director nominees, the Nominating Committee considers the skills and expertise of the current Board members and seeks director nominees with knowledge, skills and abilities that enhance and complement rather than duplicate the experiences and skills already represented on the Board of Directors. Further, the Nominating Committee ensures director nominees complement the Corporation's strategic vision and direction, a fundamental priority for the Board of Directors. The Nominating Committee follows the same process for evaluating shareholder-recommended nominees for director.

The Nominating Committee does not have a formal policy with respect to diversity; however, the Board and the Nominating Committee believe that it is essential that members of the Board of Directors represent diverse viewpoints and experience. In considering candidates for the Board, the Nominating Committee considers the entirety of each candidate's credentials in the context of these standards.

The Board of Directors nominated incumbent directors Richard L. Alloway II, Donna M. Newell, Thomas A. Ritter, D. Arthur Seibel, Jr., David L. Sites, and Alan J. Stock to serve as Class 2 Directors until the expiration of the term of the class or until their earlier death, resignation or removal from office. The Board of Directors nominated incumbent director Todd L. Herring to serve as a Class 1 Director until the expiration of the term of the class or until his earlier death, resignation or removal from office. Since Mr. Herring was nominated to fill a vacancy on the Board of Directors as a Class 1 Director on July 1, 2017, pursuant to current Article II, Section 204 of the Bylaws, he must be reelected as a Class 1 Director at the 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Messrs. Alloway, Herring, Ritter, Seibel, Sites and Stock and Ms. Newell are presently members of the Board of Directors and have consented to serve another term as a director if reelected. If any of the nominees should be unavailable to serve for any reason, a majority of the Board of Directors then in office may fill the vacancy.

The proxyholders intend to vote all proxies for the election of each of the nominees named below, unless you indicate that your vote should be withheld from any or all of them.

The Board of Directors proposes the following nominees for election as Class 2 Directors at the annual meeting:

Class 2 Director Nominees

Richard L. Alloway II Donna M. Newell Thomas A. Ritter D. Arthur Seibel, Jr. David L. Sites Alan J. Stock

Table of Contents

The Board of Directors proposes the following nominee for election as a Class 1 Director at the annual meeting:

Class 1 Director Nominee

Todd L. Herring

The Board of Directors recommends that shareholders vote **FOR** the proposals to elect the nominees listed above.

Information as to Nominees and Directors

Set forth below, as of March 12, 2018, are the principal occupations and certain other information regarding nominees for director and continuing directors including the experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that contribute to the nominee's or director's ability to oversee the management of the Corporation. Unless otherwise specified, all business experience is for the past five (5) years in the same or similar position. You will find information about their share ownership on pages 14 through 16.

Class 1 Directors (to serve until 2019; nominee Todd L. Herring to serve until 2019 if duly elected and qualified)

Todd L. Herring

Mr. Herring, age 56, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since July 2017. Mr. Herring was a director of New Windsor Bancorp, Inc. and New Windsor State Bank from 2013 until 2017. Mr. Herring is a physical therapist and, since 2015, the Market Director for Pivot Physical Therapy, a provider of physical rehabilitation and sports medicine services with more than 200 clinics along the East Coast. He was Owner and President of Central Maryland Rehabilitation Services, Inc. (CMRS) from its inception in 2006 until its acquisition by Pivot Physical Therapy in 2015. CMRS had more than 120 employees and provided hospital, home health, assisted living facility based and outpatient clinic rehabilitation services in Maryland. Since 1985, Mr. Herring also owns and manages numerous residential and commercial real estate partnerships. His professional and personal contacts in Carroll County and surrounding markets, experience in the operations and management of small businesses, knowledge of the Carroll County market, and prior board experience support his service on the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors.

James J. Lott

Mr. Lott, age 55, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2007. He is President of Bonnie Brae Fruit Farms, Inc. located in Gardners, Pennsylvania. Mr. Lott offers extensive experience in agribusiness, a leading economic driver in Adams County and Pennsylvania, and his business insight is leveraged to provide guidance in understanding this important segment of the local economy.

Table of Contents

J. Emmett Patterson

Mr. Patterson, age 70, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2012. He is Owner & President of JDCS Enterprise and Fry Guy Corporation, which owns ten McDonald's restaurants in southcentral Pennsylvania, including seven in the Gettysburg and Hanover markets. His career with McDonald's spans more than 40 years. Prior to becoming an owner operator, Mr. Patterson held a number of positions in management with McDonald's Corporation, as well as served as staff director for McDonald's World Training Center. Mr. Patterson's ownership and operation of McDonald's franchises brings strong financial, business and human resources background to the Board.

Marian B. Schultz

Ms. Schultz, age 68, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 1992. She retired in 2012 as Dean of the School of Academic Programs & Services and Library & Multi-Media Services at Shippensburg University located in Shippensburg, Pennsylvania. Ms. Schultz has extensive experience in academia with strong skills in program development and implementation, human relations, and academic administration.

James E. Williams

Mr. Williams, age 64, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2007. He is President of C.E. Williams Sons, Inc., a paving and excavating company located in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, and Managing Partner of Frantz Plumbing LLC, a residential and commercial plumbing, heating and cooling company located in Biglerville, Pennsylvania. Mr. Williams is an experienced leader and serves as Vice Chair of the Adams County Economic Development Corporation, exhibiting proven expertise in the overall management of a company including matters related to financial oversight, human resources, and risk

Class 2 Directors (to serve until 2021 if duly elected and qualified)

Richard L. Alloway II

Mr. Alloway, age 50, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2015. He is a State Senator representing Pennsylvania's 33rd State Senate District since 2009. Prior to serving as a State Senator, Mr. Alloway was a magisterial district judge for four years. The Board benefits from Mr. Alloway's legal background and extensive knowledge of ACNB Bank's marketplace.

Donna M. Newell

Ms. Newell, age 47, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2012. She is President & Chief Executive Officer of NTM Engineering, Inc., a firm located in Dillsburg, Pennsylvania, that specializes in water resources and structural engineering as well as engineering course development and instruction. Ms. Newell brings her engineering, technology and business expertise to the Board.

Table of Contents

Thomas A. Ritter

Mr. Ritter, age 66, was President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Bank until May 2017, as well as remains Chairman of the Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. He served as Executive Vice President of the Corporation and ACNB Bank from January 1, 2000, until December 31, 2000. Effective January 1, 2001, he became President of the Corporation and President & Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Bank. Effective December 31, 2003, Mr. Ritter became the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer. Effective September 1, 2015, he relinquished his position as President of ACNB Bank with the appointment of his successor as part of the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's long-term succession planning. He has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2001. He has been a member of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s Board of Directors and has served as Chairman of the Board since 2005. Mr. Ritter had previously served as a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors from 1997 until his resignation from each Board in December 1999. From 1986 until December 1999, Mr. Ritter was an insurance agent in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania. Mr. Ritter's more than 30 years of experience in the financial services industry, including 13 years as the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer, provides him with unique insights into the Corporation's challenges, strategic goals, and operations.

D. Arthur Seibel, Jr.

Mr. Seibel, age 59, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since July 2017. He joined the boards of directors of New Windsor Bancorp, Inc. and New Windsor State Bank in 2001 and served as Chairman of these boards until 2017. Mr. Seibel is Chief Operating Officer for Springdale Preparatory School LLC in New Windsor, Maryland. From 2011 until 2014, he was Managing Director of CIC Switzerland, Ltd., the international sales operation of Cristal Inorganic Chemicals (CIC), located in Zug, Switzerland. He previously served as Chief Financial Officer of CIC, a manufacturing company with operations in five countries and revenues of \$2.0 billion, from 2007 to 2011, and began his career as a Certified Public Account. Mr. Seibel's long experience in accounting, auditing, internal controls, and strategic planning, as well as knowledge of public companies and the community banking industry, support his membership on the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors.

David L. Sites

Mr. Sites, age 62, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2010. He is Owner of Sites Realty Inc. and Realty Leasing & Management Co., real estate companies located in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania. Mr. Sites offers over 30 years of experience in real estate sales, management and development and provides proven experience in community relations, risk management, and overall management performance.

Alan J. Stock

Mr. Stock, age 60, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2005. He has also served as Vice Chairman of both Boards of Directors since 2013. He retired in December 2017 as Owner and President of Eicholtz Company, an office equipment and furniture dealership located in New Oxford, Pennsylvania. Mr. Stock brings to the Board entrepreneurial experience and strong financial and business acumen.

Table of Contents

Class 3 Directors (to serve until 2020)

Frank Elsner, III

Mr. Elsner, age 57, is Chairman of the Board of the Corporation and ACNB Bank. He has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2002, and also served as Vice Chairman of both Boards of Directors from 2007 until 2013. He has been a member of the Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. since 2012 and has served as Vice Chairman of the Board since 2013. Mr. Elsner is Owner & Managing Director of ODT Global, LLC, a distributor, manufacturers' sales representative and integrator firm specializing in product and material handling, labeling and packaging solutions based in Hanover, Pennsylvania. He retired in 2012 as President, Chief Executive Officer & Treasurer of Elsner Engineering Works, Inc., an engineering and manufacturing company located in Hanover, Pennsylvania. Mr. Elsner has extensive management experience with a company that operates internationally, as well as strong skills in cross cultural communications, financial management, sales and marketing, and strategic planning.

James P. Helt

Mr. Helt, age 51, is President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and President & Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Bank. He has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2017 and 2015, respectively. He has been a member of the Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. since 2016. From 2008 until September 1, 2015, Mr. Helt served as Executive Vice President of Banking Services of ACNB Bank. Mr. Helt was named President of ACNB Bank effective September 1, 2015. As part of the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's long-term succession planning, he was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Bank effective May 5, 2017. Mr. Helt's more than 25 years of experience in the financial services industry, including his time with the Corporation and ACNB Bank, provides him with unique insights into the Corporation's challenges, strategic goals, and operations.

Scott L. Kelley, Esquire

Mr. Kelley, age 66, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2012. He has also been a member of the Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. since January 1, 2017. He is a Partner with Barley Snyder LLP. Previously, he was an attorney and President of the law firm of Stonesifer and Kelley, P.C. of Hanover, Pennsylvania, until it merged with Barley Snyder LLP in 2017. He served as the Executive Director of Community Banks Insurance Services from 2007 to 2009. The Board benefits from Mr. Kelley's more than 30 years of experience practicing law in the areas of business and commercial law; real estate law; agricultural law; oil, gas and mineral law; and, estate planning and administration, as well as from his experience in the insurance industry.

Table of Contents

Daniel W. Potts

Mr. Potts, age 65, has been a member of both the Corporation's and ACNB Bank's Boards of Directors since 2004 and serves as an audit committee financial expert. He has also been a member of the Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. since 2005. He has more than 30 years of global business experience, including 10 years with major accounting firms and senior executive positions in the financial services industry. Mr. Potts is currently a Partner in the IBM Banking & Insurance Consulting Practice. Mr. Potts' financial and business skills and extensive experience with financial accounting matters provide invaluable insight and guidance to the Board's oversight function.

SHARE OWNERSHIP

Principal Shareholders

As of December 31, 2017, the Board of Directors knows of no person who owns of record or who is known to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Corporation's outstanding common stock.

Beneficial Ownership of Executive Officers, Directors and Nominees

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2017, and from information received from the respective individuals, the amount and percentage of the common stock beneficially owned by each director, each nominee for director, each Named Executive Officer, and all Named Executive Officers, directors and nominees of the Corporation as a group. Unless otherwise noted, shares are held individually and the percentage of class is less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.

Beneficial ownership of shares of ACNB Corporation common stock is determined in accordance with SEC Rule 13d-3, which provides that a person should be credited with the ownership of any stock held, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship, or otherwise has or shares:

Voting power, which includes the power to vote or to direct the voting of the stock; or,

Investment power, which includes the power to dispose or direct the disposition of the stock; or,

The right to acquire beneficial ownership within sixty (60) days after December 31, 2017.

Table of Contents

Unless otherwise indicated in a footnote appearing below the table, all shares reported in the table below are owned directly and individually by the reporting person. The number of shares owned by the directors, nominees and Named Executive Officers is rounded to the whole share.

Name of Individual or Identity of Group	Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership ⁽¹⁾	Percentage of Class
Class 1 Directors	_	
Todd L. Herring	4,437(2)	
James J. Lott	8,904(3)	
J. Emmett Patterson	$2,059^{(4)}$	
Marian B. Schultz	7,928 ⁽⁵⁾	
James E. Williams	8,482	
Class 2 Directors		
Richard L. Alloway II	1,691	
Donna M. Newell	4,086(6)	
Thomas A. Ritter	12,682((7)	
D. Arthur Seibel, Jr.	39,892(8)	
David L. Sites	32,675 ⁽⁹⁾	
Alan J. Stock	74,155 ⁽¹⁰⁾	1.06%
Class 3 Directors	·	
Frank Elsner, III	18,219(11)	
James P. Helt	7,794 ⁽¹²⁾	
Scott L. Kelley	15,053(13)	
Daniel W. Potts	2,878	
Named Executive Officers	,,,,,	
Lynda L. Glass	8,251 ⁽¹⁴⁾	
Executive Vice President/		
Secretary & Chief Governance		
Officer of ACNB Corporation		
David W. Cathell	14,153 ⁽¹⁵⁾	
Executive Vice President/		
Treasurer & Chief Financial		
Officer of ACNB Corporation		
Douglas A. Seibel	4,624 ⁽¹⁶⁾	
Executive Vice President/		
Chief Lending & Revenue		
Officer of ACNB Bank		
Frank C. Russell, Jr.	0	
President & Chief Executive		
Officer of Russell Insurance		
Group, Inc.		
All Officers, Directors and Nominees as a Group		
(15 Directors/Nominees, 5 Officers, 19 persons in total)	267,963	3.82%
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

(1)

The securities "beneficially owned" by an individual are determined in accordance with the definitions of "beneficial ownership" set forth in the General Rules and Regulations of the SEC and may include securities owned by or for the individual's spouse and minor children and any other relative who has the same home, as well as securities to which the individual has or shares voting or investment power, or has the right to acquire beneficial ownership

Table of Contents

(16)

within sixty (60) days after December 31, 2017. Beneficial ownership may be disclaimed as to certain of the securities.

- Figure includes 1,607 shares held solely by Mr. Herring; 898 shares held in a trust for the benefit of Mr. Herring; 172 shares owned by his spouse; 880 shares held in his spouse's 401(k) account; and, 880 shares held for the benefit of a minor child.
- Figure includes 1,828 shares held solely by Mr. Lott; 6,076 shares held jointly with Mr. Lott's spouse; and, 1,000 shares held in his IRA.
- Figure includes 1,559 shares held solely by Mr. Patterson and 500 shares held jointly with Mr. Patterson's spouse.
- Figure includes 1,828 shares held solely by Ms. Schultz; 1,000 shares held jointly with Ms. Schultz's spouse; and, 5,100 shares held solely by Ms. Schultz's spouse.
- Figure includes 1,643 shares held solely by Ms. Newell; 2,118 shares held jointly with Ms. Newell's spouse; and, 325 shares held in her IRA.
- Figure includes 7,545 shares held solely by Mr. Ritter; 1,814 shares held jointly with Mr. Ritter's spouse; and, 3,323 shares held solely by Mr. Ritter's spouse.
- Figure includes 219 shares held solely by Mr. Seibel; 9,760 shares held in a trust for the benefit of Mr. Seibel; and, 29,913 shares held in his IRA.
- Figure includes 2,067 shares held solely by Mr. Sites; 10,684 shares held jointly with Mr. Sites' spouse; 16,741 shares held in his IRA; 1,657 shares held in Mr. Sites' spouse's IRA; 1,500 shares held in an investment partnership; and, 26 shares held in a family trust of which Mr. Sites is trustee.
- Figure includes 2,067 shares held solely by Mr. Stock; 21,622 shares held jointly with Mr. Stock's spouse; 3,299 shares held in his IRA; 7,601 shares held in Mr. Stock's spouse's IRA; and, 39,566 shares owned by Mr. Stock's mother over which he has power of attorney.
- Figure includes 3,388 shares held solely by Mr. Elsner; 14,301 shares held jointly with Mr. Elsner's spouse; and, 530 shares held in his IRA.
- Figure includes 4,211 shares held solely by Mr. Helt; 242 shares held jointly with Mr. Helt's spouse; and, 3,341 shares held in his IRA.
- Figure includes 2,983 shares held solely by Mr. Kelley and 12,070 shares held in his IRA.
- Figure includes 4,063 shares held solely by Ms. Glass and 4,188 shares held jointly with Ms. Glass' spouse.
- Figure includes 4,063 shares held solely by Mr. Cathell; 1,785 shares held jointly with Mr. Cathell's spouse; and, 8,305 shares held in his 401(k).
- Figure includes 1,825 shares held solely by Mr. Seibel; 2,145 shares held jointly with Mr. Seibel's spouse; and, 654 shares held in his IRA.

Table of Contents

COMPENSATION AND PLAN INFORMATION

Compensation of the Board of Directors of ACNB Corporation and Subsidiaries

Directors of the Corporation are not compensated for their services. Further, ACNB Bank does not compensate employee directors for attendance at Board of Directors meetings or committee meetings. Beginning April 1, 2017, ACNB Bank's non-employee directors have been compensated for their services rendered to the Corporation and to ACNB Bank as follows:

\$18,000 annual retainer;
\$650 per Board meeting;
\$250 per hour for committee meetings with a minimum payment of \$250;
\$200 for committee chair per meeting, unless otherwise specified;
\$500 for Audit Committee chair per meeting;
\$500 for Compensation Committee chair per meeting;
\$2,500 per month for Chairman of the Board;
\$625 per month for Vice Chairman of the Board;
\$600 allowance for a half-day seminar plus expenses, if applicable, and \$1,000 allowance for a full-day seminar plus expenses, if applicable; and,
\$125 per hour for continuing education by external, online web-based training, given preapproval.

At the director's election, fifty percent (50%) or one hundred percent (100%) of each director's annual retainer, as paid on a quarterly basis, is submitted as a voluntary cash purchase of ACNB Corporation common stock through the Corporation's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan.

Table of Contents

The following table summarizes the compensation of directors during 2017:

	Fees	Earned or	Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation	Al	l Other	
	Pai	d in Cash	Earnings		pensation	Total
Name		(\$)	(\$)		(\$)(1)	(\$)
Richard L. Alloway II	\$	30,894		\$	167	\$ 31,061
Frank Elsner, III	\$	81,756(2)		\$	405	\$ 82,161
Todd L. Herring ⁽³⁾	\$	17,063				\$ 17,063
Scott L. Kelley	\$	$41,725_{(4)}$		\$	1,139	\$ 42,864
James J. Lott	\$	40,650		\$	297	\$ 40,947
Robert W. Miller ⁽⁵⁾	\$	11,019		\$	456	\$ 11,475
Donna M. Newell	\$	29,669		\$	258	\$ 29,927
J. Emmett Patterson	\$	29,875		\$	946	\$ 30,821
Daniel W. Potts	\$	34,194(6)		\$	1,005	\$ 35,199
Thomas A. Ritter	\$	26,800(7)				\$ 26,800
Marian B. Schultz	\$	36,363		\$	1,477	\$ 37,840
D. Arthur Seibel, Jr. ⁽³⁾	\$	17,188				\$ 17,188
David L. Sites	\$	39,675		\$	443	\$ 40,118
Alan J. Stock	\$	50,125		\$	582	\$ 50,707
James E. Williams	\$	48,094		\$	522	\$ 48,616

Change in Pension

(1) Represents the tax reportable imputed income attributed to the director supplemental life insurance plan.

Includes \$29,250 paid in 2017 as Chairman of the Board, and \$2,100 paid in 2017 for Board meetings of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

(3) Messrs. Herring and Seibel joined the Board effective July 1, 2017.

Includes \$2,100 paid in 2017 for Board meetings of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

Mr. Miller retired from the Board on May 2, 2017.

Includes \$1,600 paid in 2017 for Board meetings of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

(7) Includes \$2,400 paid in 2017 for Board meetings of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

Director Deferred Fee Plan

(6)

In January 2001, ACNB Bank established a director deferred fee plan. Directors Alloway, Elsner, Kelley, Lott, Miller, Newell, Patterson, Schultz, Sites, Stock and Williams participated in 2017. Directors may defer up to 100% of the director's income. Benefits are payable upon termination of service, change of control, and by specific participant election in accordance with IRS Code Section 409A. The deferred fees earn interest, and the interest and plan expenses are funded by bank-owned life insurance (BOLI).

Variable Compensation Plan

Effective January 1, 2018, the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan was amended to allow directors to participate under the same terms as employees in order to better align the interests of the directors with the shareholders and to place similar restrictions on grants of shares from the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan, under which the directors are eligible to participate, as the restrictions placed

Table of Contents

upon employees who are granted restricted stock. To date, no grants under the Variable Compensation Plan have been made to directors.

Director Supplemental Life Insurance Plan

ACNB Bank has a director supplemental life insurance plan. All non-employee directors are eligible for the life insurance benefit. The plan currently insures twelve (12) directors. The director life insurance benefit of \$250,000 per participating director shall be provided unless the director separates from service prior to reaching the retirement age, in which case the benefit is \$100,000. This life insurance benefit is funded through a single premium BOLI program because BOLI is a more cost-efficient way of providing the benefits. The amounts of death benefits is the amount set forth in the individual's policy endorsement. The eligible participating directors are not required to pay any premiums on the life insurance policy, but have the imputed value of the insurance coverage included in their taxable incomes.

Long-Term Care Insurance

ACNB Bank provides long-term care insurance to directors, and eligibility is subject to medical underwriting acceptance. The plan currently insures ten (10) directors. The eligible participating directors are not required to pay any premiums. The long-term care insurance provides a monthly maximum base benefit of \$4,000 for long-term care needs.

Table of Contents

Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Named Executive Officers

The Compensation Committee is charged with recommending to the Board of Directors of ACNB Corporation the compensation for all of the Named Executive Officers. For the year 2017, our Named Executive Officers include those individuals in the following table:

Named Executive Officer	Position at Corporate Level as of December 31	Position at Subsidiary Level as of December 31	
James P. Helt	President & Chief Executive Officer and Director	President & Chief Executive Officer and Director of ACNB Bank	
		Director of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.	
Lynda L. Glass	Executive Vice President/ Secretary & Chief Governance Officer	Executive Vice President/ Secretary and Chief Risk & Governance Officer of ACNB Bank	
		Director and Vice President & Secretary of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.	
David W. Cathell	Executive Vice President/ Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer	Executive Vice President/ Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer of ACNB Bank	
		Vice President & Treasurer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.	
Douglas A. Seibel		Executive Vice President/Chief Lending & Revenue Officer of ACNB Bank	
Frank C. Russell, Jr.		President & Chief Executive Officer and Director of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.	
Thomas A. Ritter	Retired from the position of President & Chief Executive Officer effective May 5, 2017	Retired from the position of Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Bank effective May 5, 2017	
	Director	Director of ACNB Bank	
	20	Chairman of the Board of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.	
	20		

Table of Contents

Corporation Performance Highlights and Named Executive Officer Base Salary Increases

The Corporation is committed to maintaining a strong, healthy financial institution and is committed to our shareholders. Following are the Corporation's and Bank's performance highlights and Named Executive Officer base salary highlights.

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

Successfully completed the acquisition and integration of New Windsor Bancorp, Inc. and New Windsor State Bank

Successfully transitioned the President & Chief Executive Officer role and Bank Executive Management

Increased Corporation assets from \$1.2 billion at year-end 2016 to \$1.6 billion at year-end 2017

More than \$5.2 million returned to shareholders in the form of dividends

BASE SALARY HIGHLIGHTS

	2016		2017		Dollar		Percentage	
Named Executive Officer		Salary		Salary		Change	Change	
Lynda L. Glass	\$	241,645.00	\$	250,000.00	\$	8,355.00	3.5%	
David W. Cathell	\$	229,565.00	\$	236,450.00	\$	6,885.00	3.0%	
Douglas A. Seibel	\$	210 000 00	\$	230 000 00	\$	20,000,00	9.5%	

The base salary of James P. Helt was increased from \$305,000.00 to \$370,000.00 effective upon his promotion to President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank. Upon Mr. Ritter's retirement, his base salary was \$370,000.00; therefore, the Compensation Committee believed it was in the best interest of the Corporation to maintain the same salary level for the position given Mr. Helt's previous service with ACNB Bank. Frank Russell's salary was not included in the chart above as he is not employed by ACNB Bank and his base salary did not change in 2017. Mr. Ritter was not included in the chart above as he retired effective May 5, 2017.

Compensation Objectives and Policies

The primary objective of the Corporation's compensation philosophy remains to attract, motivate, reward and retain executives who will maintain the safety and soundness of the Corporation and its subsidiaries. In addition, the Corporation's compensation philosophy aims to sustain and enhance long-term investor value, enforce internal controls deemed appropriate by our auditors and regulators, and execute the strategic plans as prioritized by the Board of Directors.

The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors of the Corporation seek to establish fair compensation policies in order to attract, motivate, reward and retain competent managers whose efforts will enhance the Corporation's profitability and growth without exposing the Corporation to undue risk. The Compensation Committee treats compensation as an evolving process depending on the strategic objectives of the Corporation, as determined by the Board of Directors at that time.

The Role of the Executive Officers in Setting Compensation

The Named Executive Officers do not participate in the determination process of their respective annual base salaries and are not present when their respective compensation is discussed by the Compensation Committee or discussed and approved by the Board of Directors.

As 2017 was a transition year with Mr. Ritter retiring, both Mr. Ritter, as President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, and Mr. Helt, as President of the Bank, provided insight to the

Table of Contents

Compensation Committee on the performance and compensation of the other Named Executive Officers as illustrated below. They also assisted in establishing performance goals and objectives for the other Named Executive Officers, with the exception of Mr. Russell.

The Compensation Process for the Named Executive Officers, except the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and President of ACNB Bank

discussed the Named Executive Officers' performance with the Compensation Committee and

provided insight on merit compensation.

were not present when his respective performance and compensation were discussed.

Compensation Committee

reviewed the performance of the President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and

the President of the Bank in his absence, respectively.

reports on the performance of the Named Executive Officers and recommends the

compensation levels to the Board of Directors.

Board of Directors

without any Named Executive Officers participating or present, discusses the compensation levels of the above listed Named Executive Officers and determines the levels of compensation.

uses its business judgment and the Compensation Committee's recommendation in determining

compensation.

The Compensation Process for the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

Board of Directors of Russell Insurance

Group, Inc.

recommends the compensation level of the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell

Insurance Group, Inc. to the Corporation's Compensation Committee at the time of employment

agreement discussion.

The President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. is not present when

his performance and compensation are discussed.

Compensation Committee reviews the recommendation of the Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

makes an independent recommendation to the Corporation's Board of Directors.

Corporation's Board of Directors

reviews the recommendation of the Compensation Committee.

uses its business judgment and the Compensation Committee's recommendation in determining

compensation.

Table of Contents

The Role of a Consultant in Setting Compensation

The Compensation Committee may in its sole discretion retain or seek the advice of a compensation consultant or other adviser. The Compensation Committee is directly responsible for retaining, determining the independence, determining if a conflict of interest exists, compensating, and overseeing the work of its advisers.

The Compensation Committee chose not to retain a compensation consultant for the year of 2017. The Compensation Committee had previously engaged Mosteller & Associates ("Mosteller"), a compensation consulting firm in 2016. Given the thorough analysis presented by Mosteller and that 2017 compensation awarded did not deviate from the Compensation Committee's previous policies, it was determined that hiring a compensation consultant for 2017 would not be warranted. The Compensation Committee also reviewed and considered educational materials from various seminars and conferences, as well as other resources, as further explained in *Benchmarking* below.

Benchmarking

The Compensation Committee reviewed the information gathered from the proxies of their peer group, including the perquisites given to the Named Executive Officers from the peer institutions. It did not make any specific adjustment in any element of compensation based upon any specific information it received from other proxies, but is only used as an educational source as to the current trends in compensation.

The Compensation Committee also reviewed information it received from various seminars, conferences and publications. This information provides general compensation trends and is not used to specifically benchmark any specific element of executive compensation to any specific financial institution or group of financial institutions, but is only used as an educational source as to the current trends in compensation.

The Role of the Shareholders' Say on Pay Vote

At the 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the shareholders overwhelmingly voted in favor of approving the compensation of the Corporation's Named Executive Officers as presented in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis presented in the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 28, 2017. The Compensation Committee will take the results of the vote, which has been consistently in favor of approving the compensation of the Corporation's Named Executive Officers, as well as the shareholders' vote on the frequency of the Say on Pay vote, into consideration in awarding compensation in the future consistent with the policies and practices outlined in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and in providing for an annual Say on Pay vote.

Components of Compensation

While the specific amount of compensation provided to the Corporation's executives may differ, the components of compensation are generally the same for our Named Executive Officers. For 2017, the Corporation's executive compensation and benefits package consisted primarily of base salary, bonus, retirement plans, and employee health and welfare benefit plans.

Table of Contents

Summary of Components of Compensation

Component	Description
Base Salary	Primary component of compensation; provides security to employees on an established payment schedule.
Bonus	
Discretionary	Bonuses at the discretion of the Board of Directors; aligns the interests of the employees with those of the shareholders as bonuses are only awarded if the Corporation performs well or specific project objectives are met.
ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan	Bonuses at the discretion of the Board of Directors; aligns the interests of the employees with those of the shareholders as bonuses are only awarded if the Corporation performs well.
2009 Restricted Stock Plan	Aligns the interests of the employees with those of the shareholders.
Retirement Plans	
Defined Benefit Plan	Promotes longevity with the Bank.
401(k) Plan	Encourages employees to save for retirement.
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP)	Designed to account for limitations with the defined benefit plan; promotes longevity with the Bank.
Employee Health and Welfare Benefits	
Insurance Plans	Standard basic benefit plans.
Supplemental Life Insurance Plan	Split-dollar share of death benefits to beneficiary upon officer's death; provides incentive for longevity.
Long-Term Care Insurance	Used to retain officers at a minimal cost.
Base Salary	

Named Executive Officers Employed by ACNB Bank

The Compensation Committee believes that base salary should be the primary component of compensation. By setting base salary as the primary component of compensation, we discourage excessive risk-taking by our Named Executive Officers. Fixed compensation provides the executive with the security of knowing that the majority of his or her compensation is not tied to market fluctuations. The amount of base salary is designed to retain Named Executive Officers who can maintain the safety and soundness of ACNB Corporation and who can further the strategic objectives of the Corporation and/or a subsidiary of the Corporation and provide leadership where needed. In recommending base salary, the Compensation Committee does not take into consideration any other forms of compensation which are and which may not be offered to the Named Executive Officers. The Compensation Committee believes that, by providing compensation without delay in the form of base salaries, it will successfully further the Corporation's goals of providing a stable environment for its Named Executive Officers which, in turn, encourages them to maintain the safety and soundness of the Corporation.

Base salaries for our Named Executive Officers are established based upon their respective responsibilities, individual performance, longevity with the Corporation and/or a subsidiary of the Corporation, and key Corporation performance measures including profitability and growth. The

Table of Contents

Compensation Committee also considered updates on Russell Insurance Group, Inc., Trust & Investment Services, Risk Management, Board Reporting and Communications, Investor/Public Relations, Strategic Leadership, and Management and Organizational Development, as well as other general information. The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors of the Corporation do not assign specific quantitative measures to subjective factors, profitability and growth, or performance targets for purposes of base salary increases, but uses its business judgment to determine if the Corporation's profitability and growth are sufficient enough to allow the Corporation the flexibility to award merit increases such that the increase would be a safe and sound practice.

The Named Executive Officers are expected to assist the Corporation in sustaining and enhancing long-term investor value by maintaining the safety and soundness of the Corporation and its subsidiaries, enforcing internal controls deemed appropriate by our auditors and regulators, executing the strategic plans as prioritized by the Board of Directors, providing leadership and organizational development, and assisting in public relations. A Named Executive Officer's capacity to perform these tasks and achievement of these tasks are taken into consideration in determining whether the Named Executive Officer has performed as expected or has had outstanding performance.

Although the individual performance reviews for the Named Executive Officers of the Corporation and/or ACNB Bank were very favorable, these Named Executive Officers' respective salaries, except for Mr. Helt's, were not substantially increased in an effort to preserve the assets of the Corporation and its banking subsidiary and the increases were not a true reflection of the respective Named Executive Officer's performance or the performance of the Corporation or ACNB Bank. Mr. Helt's base salary was increased greater than the other Named Executive Officers' salaries as a result of his promotion to President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Bank.

Named Executive Officer Employed by Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

The Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. recommends the amount of cash compensation for the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. at the time of employment agreement discussions to the Compensation Committee which reviews the recommendation. The Compensation Committee then makes an independent recommendation to the Board of Directors of ACNB Corporation, which sets the amount of cash compensation for all Named Executive Officers. The base amount and forms of compensation awarded the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. are based upon previous contract negotiations, the performance of Russell Insurance Group, Inc., and the role that the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. performs in the highly relationship-oriented industry of insurance sales.

Bonus Awards

President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. Bonus

The President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. is the only Named Executive Officer who has a nondiscretionary formulized bonus structure which is addressed in his employment agreement. Given that his duties include marketing and sales, the Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. believes that offering him a formulized bonus will increase the profitability of the insurance subsidiary, and therefore the Corporation, because it incents him to exceed \$1 million in pre-tax profits in a calendar year. The bonus structure is equal to five percent (5%) of the pre-tax income (based on historical agency accounting system) earned by Russell Insurance Group, Inc. during the preceding calendar year, provided that the actual pre-tax profits for that year exceeds \$1 million; further provided, however, if Russell Insurance Group, Inc. is assessed with impairment charges, then the Board of Directors of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. may, at its sole discretion, award, adjust, or not award the bonus for any year in which impairment charges are applied

Table of Contents

to the Russell Insurance Group, Inc. income statement. This bonus structure also contains a clawback provision allowing the Corporation to recoup the appropriate funds if the Corporation is required to restate all or a portion of its financial statements as a result of or related to a restatement of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s financial statements or if the Corporation determines, in its sole discretion, that it is required by state or federal laws or regulations to implement the clawback provision.

Discretionary Bonuses to ACNB Bank Employees

The Compensation Committee may recommend to the Board of Directors discretionary bonus awards for the Named Executive Officers, or any other employee or group of employees, for the purpose of rewarding exceptional effort and performance. In the year 2017, after reviewing the audited financial statements of the Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2016, the Compensation Committee used the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan, as discussed in more detail below, in determining whether and the kind of bonus to award the Named Executive Officers, except the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. whose bonus is determined by contract. The amount of the bonus was determined at the discretion of the Compensation Committee after review of all available resources, as discussed above, and based upon their business judgment. Upon approval by the Board of Directors, a maximum of sixty percent (60%) of the bonus awarded to the respective Named Executive Officer was a cash award, with the exception of Mr. Ritter who received only a cash award due to his impending retirement. The remaining portion of the bonus which was provided to the other Named Executive Officers was in the form of an equity award under the ACNB Corporation 2009 Restricted Stock Plan, which was purchased through the Corporation's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan and intended to further align the interests of the Named Executive Officer with those of the shareholders.

After the effective date of the acquisition of New Windsor Bancorp, Inc., the Compensation Committee provided a one-time discretionary bonus to the Named Executive Officers, except Mr. Helt, Mr. Ritter, Mr. Seibel and Mr. Russell, related to their performance in ensuring a smooth integration related to the acquisition.

ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan

Effective January 1, 2014, and amended effective January 1, 2018, the Compensation Committee established the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan (Plan), which provides guidelines for awarding cash and/or equity incentive bonuses. Under the Plan, the Compensation Committee may make a recommendation to the Board of Directors to award stock under the ACNB Corporation 2009 Restricted Stock Plan if it chooses to make equity awards. The Board of Directors also reserves the right to amend, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time. The guidelines contained in the Plan include general restrictions such as:

the award formulas are to be constructed to align the interests of the employee with those of the shareholders;

the employee must have an overall rating of "Good" on the employee's most recent individual performance appraisal;

no incentive bonuses may be awarded if the Bank's CAMELS rating assigned by its regulators falls below a certain rating;

no incentive bonuses will be awarded if the Board of Directors determines that the dividend payable to the shareholders is not reasonable; and,

all bonuses are subject to a clawback provision.

Table of Contents

Criteria Considered in Deciding to Grant a Bonus Under the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan

Factor	Rationale	2016 Target
Return on Average Equity (ROAE)	Measures the Bank's performance and provides for a pay	
	for performance baseline.	9.00%
Deposit Growth	Incentivizes employees to grow the Bank's deposit base.	4.00%
Loan Growth	Incentivizes employees to grow the Bank's loan portfolio	
	which will increase income.	3.50%
Leverage Capital Ratio	Our regulators look at our capital ratios to help determine	
	if our capital is adequate and may place constraints on us	
	if they determine that it is not.	8.75%
Non-Performing Loans to Total Loans	Incentivizes employees to grow the Bank's loan portfolio	
	with quality loans.	<2.00%
Net Income	Seeks to maintain an improved performance of the Bank.	≥\$10 Million

As discussed above, a maximum of sixty percent (60%) of the bonus awarded to the respective Named Executive Officer was a cash award paid in 2017 for 2016 performance. The remaining portion of the bonus was in the form of an equity award under the ACNB Corporation 2009 Restricted Stock Plan, as purchased through the Corporation's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan. Mr. Ritter and Mr. Helt were awarded a larger bonus, given their positions, than the other Named Executive Officers employed by ACNB Bank. The shares awarded to the Named Executive Officers were to vest in one-third (1/3) tranches, with the first third vesting in 2017. The Compensation Committee intends to continue to use restricted stock through the ACNB Corporation 2009 Restricted Stock Plan or a successor plan in the future in conjunction with the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan with the intended purpose to encourage stability and longevity in executive management.

ACNB Corporation 2009 Restricted Stock Plan

In 2009, the shareholders approved a restricted stock plan for the benefit of employees and directors of ACNB Corporation and ACNB Bank, as determined by the Compensation Committee. As the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan expires prior to the 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors is currently requesting shareholder approval and ratification of an omnibus plan to succeed to the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan. Both plans are intended to advance the best interests of the Corporation and its shareholders by providing those persons who have responsibility for the Corporation's growth with additional incentives by encouraging them to acquire an ownership interest in the Corporation and, thereby, further encouraging them to contribute to the success of the Corporation and ACNB Bank. The price volatility inherent in any form of performance-based equity compensation remains the main reason why other forms of compensation will be relied upon more heavily than equity compensation. The Compensation Committee granted shares of restricted stock in 2017 in conjunction with the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan, as discussed in detail above.

Retirement Plans

The Compensation Committee believes that retirement benefits are another important way to provide long-term financial security to employees, thus encouraging longevity and a low employee

Table of Contents

turnover rate. As the defined benefit plan and 401(k) plan are tax qualified retirement plans, the Corporation's retirement plans are not tied to Corporation or individual performance.

Defined Benefit Plan

The Corporation's banking subsidiary, ACNB Bank, maintains a defined benefit plan which is available to all eligible employees hired on or before March 31, 2012. The plan provides a prospective benefit commencing at age sixty-five (65) for the employee's lifetime. If an employee has completed thirty (30) or more years of service, the employee is eligible to retire at age sixty-two (62) and receive full benefits. The plan contains a five (5) year vesting provision to ensure that the plan rewards employees for longevity. The amount paid under the plan is based upon a formula outlined in the plan and which is applicable to all eligible ACNB Bank employees. The defined benefit plan is a very effective tool for employee retention and for providing long-term compensation. All Named Executive Officers, with the exception of the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc., are employees of ACNB Bank and are eligible to participate in the plan.

401(k) Plan

Both ACNB Bank and Russell Insurance Group, Inc. maintain a 401(k) plan which allows employees to save their own money for retirement, to earn a matching contribution from the subsidiary, and to direct the investment of all funds in the 401(k) plan. The percentage of match contributed to the Named Executive Officer's account is the same as contributed to all other eligible employees in each plan and is prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code. These plans are viewed as a necessity to successfully hire and retain employees in a competitive marketplace. All Named Executive Officers participate in ACNB Bank's 401(k) plan, except the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. who participates in Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s 401(k) plan.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

In 2017, all Named Executive Officers, with the exception of Mr. Russell and Mr. Seibel, were parties to supplemental executive retirement plan (SERP) agreements. The SERP agreements were designed to account for some of the limitations with traditional pension plans and the reduction in benefits under ACNB Bank's defined benefit plan, and are intended to provide certain executive officers with an incentive to remain with the Corporation until retirement as opposed to terminating employment before retirement to work for a competitor. The triggering events for payment under the SERP agreements are reaching retirement age as delineated in the SERP agreement, change in control followed by termination of employment, or death. Benefit amounts for a termination prior to retirement age will be determined by the individual's number of years of service encouraging longevity with the Corporation and/or ACNB Bank, unless the termination follows a change in control, at which time, the Named Executive Officer will be fully vested in the SERP benefit. Payments under the SERP agreements are made after the Named Executive Officer reaches normal retirement age as defined in the respective agreement. The SERP provides no current remuneration to the applicable Named Executive Officers and, therefore, is not taken into consideration when determining base salary.

Health and Welfare Plans

Health and welfare plans are not tied to Corporation or individual performance. The cost of providing such benefits to all eligible employees is not taken into account when determining specific salaries of the Named Executive Officers and is a cost of doing business.

Table of Contents

Insurance Plans

Group life, group disability, vision and health insurance are available to all eligible employees. Such plans are standard in the industry and in the geographic area for all industries, as well as necessary to compete for talented and committed employees at all levels of the Corporation.

Supplemental Life Insurance Plan

The Corporation's supplemental life insurance plan provides a split-dollar share of death benefits to the Named Executive Officer's beneficiary, depending upon the Named Executive Officer's eligibility to receive payments. The plan is funded with bank-owned life insurance and is used to provide an additional benefit to certain officers, including the Named Executive Officers, with a minimal cost to the Corporation. Split-dollar life insurance plans are widely available in the banking industry because the Corporation will recover its plan costs upon the death of the Named Executive Officer and the Named Executive Officer's beneficiary will receive a split of the insurance proceeds. Although this benefit does not provide any current remuneration to the Named Executive Officer, it provides further incentive for longevity with the Corporation and/or a subsidiary of the Corporation as it provides the executive the ability to provide some benefit to his or her family after his or her death. As the Corporation will recover its plan costs, the cost of the plan is not taken into consideration when determining base salary.

Long-Term Care Insurance

The Corporation provides long-term care insurance to certain officers, including the Named Executive Officers employed by the Corporation's banking subsidiary, ACNB Bank. The cost of providing this benefit is offset by interest earned on bank-owned life insurance on the life of the Named Executive Officer. Long-term care insurance is seen as an additional benefit used to attract and retain competent executives at minimal cost; therefore, the cost of the plan is not taken into consideration when determining base salary or other benefits.

Perquisites

The Corporation provides either a Corporation-owned or Corporation-leased vehicle to the President & Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Corporation and to the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. The provision of a Corporation vehicle to these individuals is a customary benefit in the financial services industry as individuals in these positions frequently engage in public relations on behalf of the Corporation, ACNB Bank and/or Russell Insurance Group, Inc. The Corporation also provides a country club membership to the President & Chief Executive Officer of ACNB Corporation and the Executive Vice President/Chief Lending & Revenue Officer of ACNB Bank for his respective use and the use of other Corporation and/or Bank officers in entertaining clients and potential clients of the Bank and for other Corporation or Bank business. Any personal use of the membership by executives is de minimis.

Agreements

The Corporation and ACNB Bank have entered into employment agreements with the President & Chief Executive Officer, the Executive Vice President/Secretary & Chief Governance Officer, the Executive Vice President/Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer, and the Executive Vice President/Chief Lending & Revenue Officer of ACNB Bank. The Corporation and Russell Insurance Group, Inc. have entered into an employment agreement with the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.

Table of Contents

Triggering Events

The employment agreements with the President & Chief Executive Officer, the Executive Vice President/Secretary & Chief Governance Officer, the Executive Vice President/Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer, and the Executive Vice President/Chief Lending & Revenue Officer of ACNB Bank are similar and any difference is a result of the respective role of the individual, the number of years the individual has been a Named Executive Officer, and the current trends in the financial services industry. In determining the triggering events in these agreements, the Corporation used triggering events which are standard and prevalent in the industry. The contracts are designed to compensate the Named Executive Officer if the Named Executive Officer is terminated without cause, is terminated after a change in control, or terminates employment for good reason. As the agreements are three (3) years in duration and as the Named Executive Officer has agreed to noncompetition provisions in the agreement, the Corporation believes that it is only appropriate that if the Named Executive Officer is terminated without cause or if the Corporation imposes a condition of employment upon the Named Executive Officer which would be considered a good reason for the Named Executive Officer to terminate employment under the agreement (in effect, if the Corporation or ACNB Bank breaches the agreement), then the Named Executive Officer should be paid the predetermined amount as damages as a result of the Corporation or ACNB Bank violating the employment agreement. Alternatively, if the Corporation or ACNB Bank undergoes a change in control and as a result the Named Executive Officer's employment is terminated by either the Named Executive Officer or the successor corporation, the Corporation believes that it is in the best interests of the shareholders to provide the Named Executive Officer with security in order to ensure that decisions regarding potential changes in control are made in the best interests of the shareholders and that personal concerns regarding subsequent employment are minimized. The contracts give the Named Executive Officer the security of knowing that if he or she is terminated in one of those scenarios that he or she will receive some form of compensation during the transition phase from working for the Corporation to finding another position. In addition, the contracts contain a noncompetition provision, whereby the Named Executive Officer is not allowed to compete with the Corporation or ACNB Bank or solicit customers or employees of the Corporation or ACNB Bank for a specific period of time. The time period in which the Named Executive Officer receives compensation is related to the time period that the noncompetition provision is in effect.

The contract for the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. contains a payment trigger if his employment agreement is terminated without cause or he terminates employment for good reason. Therefore, if he terminates employment without good reason, he will not receive any payment. If there is a change in control, he will only receive a payment if a subsequent termination of employment meets the definition of a termination without cause or a voluntary termination for good reason. Given his role at Russell Insurance Group, Inc., and not at the Corporation, the Compensation Committee believes the triggering events are appropriate.

The triggering events for payment under the SERP agreements for the applicable Named Executive Officers are reaching retirement age as delineated in the SERP agreement, change in control followed by termination of employment, or death. Benefit amounts for a termination prior to retirement age will be determined by the individual's number of years of service encouraging longevity with the Corporation and/or ACNB Bank, unless the termination follows a change in control, at which time, the Named Executive Officer will be fully vested in the SERP benefit. Payments under the SERP agreements are made after the Named Executive Officer reaches normal retirement age as defined in the respective agreement.

Vesting

The SERPs are subject to a vesting mechanism such that if the Named Executive Officer terminates employment prior to normal retirement age, the Named Executive Officer will receive a

Table of Contents

reduced benefit. Given the positions held by the applicable Named Executive Officers and the likelihood that their service with the Corporation and/or ACNB Bank would be terminated in the event of a change in control of the Corporation, the Named Executive Officers will become fully vested in the SERPs upon such termination. The employment agreements are not subject to vesting requirements as vesting of employment agreements is not industry standard, it would not further the Corporation's compensation philosophy, and the Named Executive Officers have longevity with the Corporation and/or a subsidiary of the Corporation.

Accounting and Tax Treatments

In the case that one of the events which trigger a payment under the ACNB Corporation and ACNB Bank employment agreements occurs and a payment is made, if the payment is subject to the Internal Revenue Code Section 4999 (also referred to as 280G) penalty, then the Named Executive Officer, with the exception of Mr. Seibel, will receive additional compensation such that, after taxes, the Named Executive Officer will receive what he or she is entitled to under the agreement. The gross-up provision was standard in employment agreements given to Named Executive Officers at Pennsylvania community banks and was intended to place the Named Executive Officer in the same financial position that the parties intended. The gross-up amount is not taken into consideration when determining annual base salary or other annual compensation awards, but was taken into account when determining the amount of each triggering event in the respective contract. In 2016, the Compensation Committee determined that it would no longer offer gross-up provisions in new contracts offered to executives to align its agreements with current industry trends. Therefore, Mr. Seibel's contract, which was entered into in November 2016, contains a gross-down provision, whereby if Mr. Seibel's payment is subject to the Section 4999 penalty, then his payment will be reduced to an amount necessary such that no penalty will apply.

All of the Named Executive Officers' agreements are designed to comply with or be exempt from the application of Internal Revenue Code Section 409A.

Hedging/Pledging

Employees who own shares outright are permitted to hedge or pledge shares, subject to the Corporation's Insider Trading Policy Statement that restricts certain transactions prior to the release of certain nonpublic information.

Ownership Guidelines

At this time, the Corporation does not require its Named Executive Officers to own a certain number of shares of Corporation stock. However, with the exception of Mr. Russell and Mr. Ritter, as noted above, a portion of the respective Named Executive Officer's bonuses awarded in 2016 and 2017 were equity awards under the ACNB Corporation 2009 Restricted Stock Plan to further align the interests of the Named Executive Officer with those of the shareholders.

Clawbacks

Both the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan and the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s bonus structure contain clawback provisions. Under the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan, in the event that the Corporation or ACNB Bank is required to prepare an accounting restatement because of the material noncompliance of the Corporation or ACNB Bank with any financial reporting requirement and, if within the previous three (3) years from the date of the restatement, an employee received an award under the plan, the employee shall return and refund to the Bank the excess of what would have been paid under the accounting restatement. In the event that the Corporation or the Bank is required to prepare an accounting restatement because of the

Table of Contents

employee's misconduct or fraudulent activity, then the employee shall return and refund to the Bank the entire award received based upon the

Under the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s employment agreement, which contains his bonus structure, the Corporation is allowed to recoup the appropriate funds if the Corporation is required to restate all or a portion of its financial statements as a result of or related to a restatement of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s financial statements or if the Corporation determines, in its sole discretion, that it is required by state or federal laws or regulations to implement the clawback provision.

Material Differences in Compensation Awarded to Each Named Executive Officer

The Named Executive Officers receive base salaries commensurate with their positions, responsibilities, and past performance as recommended by the Compensation Committee and approved by the Board of Directors of ACNB Corporation using their respective business judgment. The amount of net income generated by Russell Insurance Group, Inc. is also taken into consideration when determining the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s bonus, which is based upon a formula provided in his employment agreement and discussed in more detail under *Bonus Awards* above.

As illustrated below, the Named Executive Officers are provided similar benefits, except the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. does not participate in those benefits that are only offered to Named Executive Officers employed by ACNB Bank by virtue of the terms of the respective plan. Additionally, in 1996, Ms. Glass was provided a SERP, which was amended in 2012, and, in 2012, Mr. Helt and Mr. Cathell were provided SERPs to account for some of the limitations with the defined benefit plan and given their positions at the Corporation and/or Bank at the time the SERPs were implemented. Mr. Seibel does not currently participate in the SERP as he was not an executive vice president at the time the SERPs were implemented. Any differences in the amount provided under the respective benefit is determined based upon each Named Executive Officer's position and years of service.

		ipplementa Executive S	l Supplementa	al Long-			Basic Insurance
	I	Retirement	Life	Term		Defined 1	Benefits &
	Employment	Plan	Insurance	Care	Bonus	Benefit	401(k)
Named Executive Officer	Agreement	(SERP)	Plan	Insurance	Eligibility	Plan	Plan
James P. Helt	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Lynda L. Glass	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
David W. Cathell	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Douglas A. Seibel	X		X	X	X	X	X
Frank C. Russell, Jr.	X		X		X		X
Thomas A. Ritter ⁽¹⁾	X	X	X	X	X	X	X

(1)

Mr. Ritter's employment agreement, bonus eligibility, and basic insurance benefits terminated upon his retirement. Mr. Ritter will receive his vested benefits under his SERP, supplemental life insurance plan, long-term care insurance, defined benefit plan, and 401(k) plan. He is also eligible for other benefits provided to directors.

Table of Contents

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management and, based on the review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in ACNB Corporation's proxy statement.

This report is furnished by the Compensation Committee.

James E. Williams, Chair Frank Elsner, III Todd L. Herring Scott L. Kelley James J. Lott J. Emmett Patterson Marian B. Schultz Alan J. Stock

33

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

In 2017, ACNB Bank's Chief Risk & Governance Officer provided the Board of Directors with a risk assessment report for the Corporation's incentive compensation programs. The Board of Directors concluded that the programs are balanced, do not motivate imprudent risk taking, and are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the total compensation for 2017, 2016 and 2015 for Thomas A. Ritter, the Corporation's former President & Chief Executive Officer who retired in May 2017; James P. Helt, the Corporation's current President & Chief Executive Officer; David W. Cathell, the Corporation's Executive Vice President/Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer; and, three other persons who were serving as executive officers of the Corporation and/or a subsidiary of the Corporation at the end of 2017. Specifically, these three other persons include Lynda L. Glass, Executive Vice President/Secretary & Chief Governance Officer; Douglas A. Seibel, Executive Vice President/Chief Revenue & Lending Officer; and, Frank C. Russell, Jr., President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. These individuals are referred to as the Named Executive Officers.

Table of Contents

(3)

(4)

(5)

No. of the last of	V		Salary		Bonus	A	Stock Awards	N	Change in Pension Value and Ionqualified Deferred ompensation Earnings		All Other mpensation	Total
Name and Principal Position	Year	Φ	(\$)	ф	(\$)		(\$)(1)	φ	(\$)(2)	ф	(\$)	(\$)
Thomas A. Ritter	2017		243,346		63,000	_	••••	\$	78,008		210,171(4) \$	594,525
Former President & Chief	2016		370,000		21,000		39,000		265,004		207,651 ⁽⁵⁾ \$	902,655
Executive Officer of the	2015	\$	320,825	\$	20,032	\$	20,032	\$	205,725	\$	53,972 ⁽⁶⁾ \$	620,586
Corporation ⁽³⁾												
James P. Helt												
	2017	\$	345,500	\$	30,600	\$	24,400	\$	48,058	\$	16,364 ⁽⁸⁾ \$	464,922
President & Chief	2016	\$	305,000	\$	27,500	\$	22,500	\$	34,367	\$	$17,806^{(9)}$ \$	407,173
Executive Officer of the Corporation ⁽⁷⁾	2015	\$	252,234	\$	18,400	\$	14,720	\$	12,901	\$	$13,519^{(10)}$ \$	311,774
Lynda L. Glass												
	2017	\$	250,000	\$	26,000	\$	22,000	\$	175,199	\$	49,968 ⁽¹²⁾ \$	523,167
Executive Vice President/	2016	\$	241,645	\$	25,000	\$	21,000	\$	133,861	\$	31,806 ⁽¹³⁾ \$	453,312
Secretary & Chief Governance Officer	2015	\$	235,750	\$	18,400	\$	14,720	\$	36,352	\$	14,763(14)\$	319,985
of the Corporation ⁽¹¹⁾												
David W. Cathell												
	2017	\$	236,450	\$	26,000	\$	22,000	\$	118,620	\$	54,495(16)\$	457,565
Executive Vice President/	2016		229,565		25,000		21,000		99,640	-	45,006 ⁽¹⁷⁾ \$	420,211
Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer of	2015		223,965		18,400	-	14,720		73,824		36,175 ⁽¹⁸⁾ \$	367,084
the Corporation ⁽¹⁵⁾	2010	Ψ	220,700	Ψ	10,.00	Ψ	1.,,20	Ψ	75,02	Ψ	σο,170 φ	207,00
Douglas A. Seibel												
Douglas III Selbei	2017	\$	230,000	\$	22,000	\$	19,000	\$	44,863	\$	10,569(19)\$	326,432
Executive Vice President/Chief	2017	Ψ	250,000	Ψ	22,000	Ψ	17,000	Ψ	11,003	Ψ	10,507 ψ	320, 132
Revenue & Lending Officer												
Frank C. Russell, Jr.												
Frank C. Russen, Jr.	2017	Ф	300,000							\$	12,387 ⁽²⁰⁾ \$	312,387
President & Chief Evecutive			,									,
President & Chief Executive	2016		300,000	ф	50 140					\$	$12,180^{(21)}$ \$	312,180
Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.	2015	\$	300,000	\$	50,140					\$	6,981(22)\$	357,121

The amount shown was deposited for a cash purchase of Corporation stock through the Corporation's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan.

The amounts shown represent the aggregate actuarial increase in the present value of the Named Executive Officer's benefits under the pension plan and retirement income agreements.

Mr. Ritter retired from service as the President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank effective May 5, 2017. He continues to serve as a director of the Corporation, the Bank, and Russell Insurance Group, Inc. for which he also serves as Chairman of the Board.

Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,800; deferred compensation accruals under his SERP of \$174,614; imputed income of \$2,782 related to supplemental life insurance; personal use of company car of \$503; and, appraised value of vehicle over purchase price of \$21,472.

Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,600; deferred compensation accruals under his SERP of \$192,978; imputed income of \$2,790 related to supplemental life insurance; and, personal use of company car of \$1,283.

Table of Contents

- (6) Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,600; deferred compensation accruals under his SERP of \$39,657; imputed income of \$2,117 related to supplemental life insurance; and, personal use of company car of \$1,598. (7) Also serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank and a director of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. (8) Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,800; deferred compensation accruals under his SERP of \$2,111; imputed income of \$561 related to supplemental life insurance; and, personal use of company car of \$2,892. (9) Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,600; deferred compensation accruals under his SERP of \$1,773; imputed income of \$433 related to supplemental life insurance; and, merger-related work of \$5,000. (10) Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,600; deferred compensation accruals under his SERP of \$1,493; imputed income of \$383 related to supplemental life insurance; and, personal use of country club of \$1,043. (11) Also serves as Executive Vice President/Secretary and Chief Risk & Governance Officer of ACNB Bank, as well as a Director and Vice President & Secretary of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. (12)Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,800; deferred compensation accruals under her SERP of \$36,791; imputed income of \$877 related to supplemental life insurance; and, merger-related work of \$1,500. (13) Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,600; deferred compensation accruals under her SERP of \$20,404; and, imputed income of \$802 related to supplemental life insurance. (14)Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,166; deferred compensation accruals under her SERP of \$3,876; and, imputed income of \$721 related to supplemental life insurance. (15)Also serves as Executive Vice President/Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer of ACNB Bank and Vice President & Treasurer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc. (16)Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,698; deferred compensation payments under his SERP of \$37,895; imputed income of \$902 related to supplemental life insurance; and, merger-related work of \$5,000. (17) Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,303; deferred compensation accruals under his SERP of \$30,945; imputed income of \$758 related to supplemental life insurance; and, merger-related work of \$3,000. (18)Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$9,695; deferred compensation accruals under his SERP of \$25,799; and, imputed income of \$681 related to supplemental life insurance. (19)Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$10,080, and imputed income of \$489 related to supplemental life insurance. (20)Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$8,100; imputed income of \$633 related to supplemental life insurance; and, personal use of company car of \$3,654. (21) Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$7,950; imputed income of \$580 related to supplemental life insurance; and,
 - Includes 401(k) plan employer matching contribution of \$2,750; imputed income of \$521 related to supplemental life insurance; and, personal use of company car of \$3,710.

personal use of company car of \$3,650.

(22)

Table of Contents

CEO Pay Ratio Disclosure

The SEC requires us to disclose the annual total compensation of Mr. Helt, the principal executive officer as of December 31, 2017, and our median employee, as well as the ratio of their respective annual total compensation to each other. We are providing the following information for the year ended December 31, 2017:

The median employee's annual compensation \$37,073

The CEO's annual compensation \$489,022

The ratio of the CEO's annual compensation to our median employee's annual compensation 13:1

The CEO's compensation is approximately 13 times that of the median of the annual total compensation of all employees.

We completed the following steps to identify the median of the annual total compensation of all our employees. The Corporation chose December 31, 2017 as the date for identifying the median employee. We considered our entire employee population consisting of full-time, part-time and temporary employees employed on that date. To find the median of the annual total compensation of our employees, the Corporation used wages from our payroll records, excluding the CEO's wages. We annualized compensation for full-time and part-time employees who were employed on December 31, 2017, but who did not work the entire year including New Windsor State Bank employees. No full-time equivalent adjustments were made for part-time employees. We calculated total annual compensation in accordance with the requirements of Item 402(c)(2)(x) of Regulation S-K for both the median employee and Mr. Helt; however, we annualized Mr. Helt's current base salary. We did not include personal benefits that aggregate less than \$10,000 and compensation under non-discriminatory benefit plans in calculating the annual total compensation; however, we did use matching contributions and profit sharing contributions from the Bank's 401(k) and insurance premiums. We did not rely on any material assumptions, adjustments, or estimates to identify our median employee or to determine annual total compensation.

Equity Compensation

In 2009, the Corporation's shareholders approved the ACNB Corporation 2009 Restricted Stock Plan (the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan) which allows the Corporation to grant up to 200,000 restricted shares under the plan. The Compensation Committee may grant restricted stock to employees and directors of the Corporation and ACNB Bank contingent, for example, upon the employee, director, Corporation or ACNB Bank meeting specified goals or the employee or director remaining employed or affiliated with ACNB Bank for a specific period of time. The following table is a summary of the restricted stock grants awarded to the Named Executive Officers during 2017, pursuant to the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan and the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan.

Grant of Plan Based Awards

Named Executive Officer	Grant Date	Shares (#)	Grant Date Fair Value (\$)
Thomas A. Ritter			
James P. Helt	June 15, 2017	833.4757	\$ 24,400
Lynda L. Glass	June 15, 2017	751.4944	\$ 22,000
David W. Cathell	June 15, 2017	751.4944	\$ 22,000
Douglas A. Seibel	June 15, 2017	649.0179	\$ 19,000
-			37

Table of Contents

(1)

(1)

On June 15, 2017, the Corporation granted a total of 2,985.4824 restricted shares to the Named Executive Officers employed by ACNB Bank. Subject to earlier forfeiture or accelerated vesting, the restricted shares were to vest as follows: one-third $(^{1}/_{3})$ of the restricted shares 100% vested on the grant date, with the next one-third $(^{1}/_{3})$ of the restricted shares 100% vested as of January 1, 2018, and the final one-third $(^{1}/_{3})$ of the restricted shares 100% vested as of January 1, 2019.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table is a summary of the outstanding equity awards at December 31, 2017.

Named Executive Officer	Number of Shares that Have Not Vested (#)	5	rket Value of Shares that ve Not Vested (\$) ⁽¹⁾
Thomas A. Ritter			
James P. Helt	1,097.4300	\$	32,429
Lynda L. Glass	792.7237	\$	23,425
David W. Cathell	792.7237	\$	23,425
Douglas A. Seibel	567.5539	\$	16,771

Value represents the number of shares that have not vested multiplied by \$29.55, the Corporation's closing price on December 31, 2017.

The following table summarizes each vesting of restricted stock award grants under the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan which vested during 2017.

Stock Vested in Fiscal Year 2017

Named Executive Officer	Number of Shares Acquired on Vesting (#)	 alue Realized on Vesting (\$) ⁽¹⁾
Thomas A. Ritter	1083.559	\$ 33,753
James P. Helt	590.3903	\$ 17,870
Lynda L. Glass	542.2256	\$ 16,421
David W. Cathell	542.2256	\$ 16,421
Douglas A. Seibel	351.2146	\$ 10,535

Value represents the number of shares that vested multiplied by the closing price on the applicable vesting date.

The Board of Directors is currently requesting shareholder approval and ratification of an Omnibus Incentive Stock Plan in order to provide the Board of Directors with additional alternatives in awarding equity compensation to Named Executive Officers and others in an effort to further align the interests of directors and executive officers with those of the shareholders.

Clawback Provisions

Both the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan and the President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s bonus structure contain clawback provisions, as both are the only arrangements which provide for compensation based upon financial information which may be required to be reported under securities law or which may have an effect on the financial information reported. The clawback associated with the ACNB Bank Variable Compensation Plan provides that in the event that the Corporation or ACNB Bank is required to prepare an accounting restatement because of the material noncompliance of the Corporation or ACNB Bank with any financial reporting requirement

Table of Contents

and, if within the previous three (3) years from the date of the restatement, a participant received an award based upon the erroneous data, the participant shall return and refund to ACNB Bank the excess of what would have been paid to the participant under the accounting restatement. In the event that the Corporation or ACNB Bank is required to prepare an accounting restatement because of a participant's misconduct or fraudulent activity, then the participant shall return and refund to ACNB Bank the entire award received based upon the erroneous data. The clawback associated with Mr. Russell's bonus structure is similar providing that if the Corporation is required to restate all or a portion of its financial statements as a result of or related to a restatement of Russell Insurance Group, Inc.'s financial statements and the Corporation determines in its sole discretion that it is required by state or federal laws or regulations to clawback a bonus payment, Mr. Russell shall reimburse Russell Insurance Group, Inc. for any incentive award paid if the result of a performance measure upon which the award was based is restated or otherwise adjusted in a manner that would reduce the size of the award.

Supplemental Life Insurance Plan

In January 2001, ACNB Bank implemented a supplemental life insurance plan for certain officers of the Bank to provide death benefits for each officer's designated beneficiaries, which was amended and restated in December 2014. Beneficiaries designated by an officer are entitled to a split-dollar share of the death proceeds from the life insurance policies on each officer equal to the lesser of two (2) times the officer's base annual salary or the maximum dollar amount of the participant's interest in the policy based upon the vesting schedule attached to his or her split-dollar policy endorsement. The plan is unsecured and unfunded, and there are no plan assets. The Bank has purchased single premium bank-owned life insurance (BOLI) policies on the lives of the officers and intends to use income from the BOLI policies to offset the plan benefit expenses.

Group Term Life Insurance Plan

ACNB Bank maintains a group term life insurance plan. All full-time Bank employees are eligible to participate in the plan. For 2017, the insurance benefit for employees was calculated as two (2) times base salary, with a maximum of \$250,000.

Long-Term Care Insurance

ACNB Bank provides long-term care insurance to certain officers. The insurance provides a monthly benefit for long-term care needs.

401(k) Plan

ACNB Bank maintains a defined contribution profit-sharing 401(k) plan. ACNB Bank is the plan sponsor and plan administrator. The plan is subject to certain laws and regulations under the Internal Revenue Code, and participants are entitled to certain rights and protection under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

Table of Contents

An employee is eligible to participate in the plan after working for six (6) months and attaining the age of twenty (20) years and six (6) months. An eligible employee is automatically enrolled in the 401(k) plan, and the Bank will automatically withhold 5% of the employee's wages unless otherwise directed. ACNB Bank matches a percentage of the employee's contribution. In 2017, ACNB Bank's contribution equaled 100% of the employee's contribution up to a maximum of 4% of earned compensation. Effective January 1, 2000, ACNB Bank adopted a "safe harbor" provision for its 401(k) plan, which vests eligible contributions immediately upon entering the plan for both employer and employee contributions.

Defined Benefit Plan

Employees of ACNB Bank hired on or before March 31, 2012, are covered under the Bank's Group Pension Plan for Employees provided that they meet the eligibility criteria of the plan. The plan is a defined benefit pension plan under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The plan was restated November 1, 1998, effective January 1, 1999, and subsequently amended effective November 1, 2000, January 1, 2010, and April 1, 2012. ACNB Bank is the plan sponsor and plan administrator.

Amounts are set aside each year to fund the plan on the basis of actuarial calculations. The amount of contribution to a defined benefit pension plan on behalf of a specific employee cannot be separately or individually calculated. ACNB Bank made no contributions to the plan in 2017, as the plan is considered to be well funded.

Each eligible employee of ACNB Bank hired on or before March 31, 2012, who attains the age of twenty (20) years and six (6) months and who completes one (1) year of service, in which one thousand (1,000) hours are worked, is eligible to participate in the plan on the following anniversary of the plan. The plan generally provides for a prospective benefit at the age of sixty-five (65) years for the employee's remaining lifetime with payments certain for five (5) years. Effective January 1, 2010, the formula for determining a participant's benefit is the participant's earned benefit as of December 31, 2009, plus 0.75% of the participant's average monthly pay multiplied by the participant's benefit service earned on and after January 1, 2010, but not more than twenty-five (25) years. If an employee has completed thirty (30) or more years of vested service, he or she is eligible to retire at age sixty-two (62) with no reduction applied to his or her benefit.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

ACNB Bank entered into retirement income agreements with the Named Executive Officers, except Mr. Russell and Mr. Seibel, to provide supplemental retirement income benefits to these officers upon the later of reaching their normal retirement date or separation of service. Messrs. Ritter's, Cathell's and Helt's and Ms. Glass' benefits are payable in equal monthly installments for the greater of one hundred-eighty (180) months or the executive's life. Benefits are also payable upon death. Benefit amounts will be determined by the individual's number of years of service. Benefits accrue annually, but may be reduced if termination of service occurs before the normal retirement date except after a change in control. In exchange for providing benefits under the agreements, the executives are bound by respective noncompetition arrangements. No benefits are payable under the agreements if the executive directly or indirectly engages in a business or activity that may be deemed competitive with ACNB Bank or the Corporation within fifty (50) miles of ACNB Bank's principal office. If the termination occurs before the executive's respective retirement date, this restriction applies for five (5) years after the date of the executive's separation of service; however, the restriction will not extend longer than three (3) years after the executive begins to receive benefits under the respective agreement. If the separation occurs after the executive's retirement date, then the restriction shall be in place for three (3) years. The restriction does not apply after a change in control. ACNB Bank purchased bank-owned life insurance policies on each officer to fund the retirement income

Table of Contents

agreements. Further information with respect to these agreements is set forth in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in ACNB Corporation's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Pension Benefits Table

The following table summarizes the pension benefits which have accumulated and been paid to each of the eligible Named Executive Officers during 2017.

Named Executive Officer	Plan Name	Number of Years Credited Service (#)		sent Value of ccumulated Benefit (\$)	Payments During Last Fiscal Year (\$)
Thomas A. Ritter	Pension Plan	17	\$	610,883	\$ 0
	Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Pension Plan	16	\$	1,501,241	\$ 92,297
James P. Helt	i chision i ian	9	\$	178,940	\$ 0
James 1. Helt	Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan	6	\$	24,526	0
Lynda L. Glass	Pension Plan Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan	33 21		928,470 391,333	0
David W. Cathell	Pension Plan Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan	12 6	\$ \$	289,514 274,270	0
Douglas A. Seibel	Pension Plan	9	\$	180,376	\$ 0

Frank C. Russell, Jr.

Employment Agreements

On December 31, 2008, the Corporation and Adams County National Bank, now ACNB Bank, entered into amended and restated employment agreements with Thomas A. Ritter, former President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank, and Lynda L. Glass, Executive Vice President/Secretary & Chief Governance Officer of the Corporation and Executive Vice President/Secretary and Chief Risk & Governance Officer of the Bank. Ms. Glass' agreement was again amended on December 27, 2016. On April 17, 2009, the Corporation and the Bank entered into an employment agreement with David W. Cathell, Executive Vice President/Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation and the Bank, and on April 15, 2009, the Bank entered into an employment agreement with James P. Helt, current President & Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and ACNB Bank. Both of these agreements were amended on December 27, 2016. On November 15, 2016, ACNB Bank entered into an employment agreement with Douglas A. Seibel, Executive Vice President/Chief Lending & Revenue Officer of ACNB Bank (together, the "Agreements" and "Executives"). Under the Agreements, these Named Executive Officers are eligible for bonuses, paid time off, participation in employee benefit plans, and reimbursement of business expenses. Further, Mr. Ritter received and Mr. Helt receives a company vehicle provided by the Corporation.

The initial terms of the Agreements are three (3) years which automatically extend for an additional one (1) year period on each annual anniversary date of the Agreements, unless notice is given one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the anniversary date, so that on each anniversary date if notice had not been previously given the term shall continue for three (3) years.

Table of Contents

The Agreements automatically terminate if the Executives are terminated for "Cause", as defined in the Agreements, and all rights under the Agreements will terminate with the exception of the arbitration clause. The Agreements automatically terminate if the Executives terminate their employment for "Good Reason", as defined in the Agreements. If the Agreements terminate for "Good Reason", Mr. Ritter would have received the greater of (a) the compensation due for the remainder of the Agreement's term or (b) two (2) times his agreed compensation and benefits for two (2) years, and in the case of Ms. Glass and Messrs. Helt, Cathell and Seibel 2.99 times their agreed compensation and benefits for two (2) years. The Agreements automatically terminate upon the Executives' disability, as defined in the Agreements, and the Executives will receive employee benefits and 75% of their compensation until (a) they return to work, (b) reach age sixty-five (65), (c) die, or (d) the employment period under the Agreements ends. The Agreements automatically terminate if the Executives voluntarily terminate the Agreements. If Messrs. Helt, Cathell or Seibel or Ms. Glass gives notice within one hundred eighty (180) days of a "Change in Control", as defined in the Agreements, or the Executive's employment is terminated involuntarily, the respective Executive is entitled to 2.99 times the Executive's agreed compensation and to continue to receive benefits for two (2) years. Messrs. Helt and Cathell and Ms. Glass would receive grossed-up payments, and Mr. Seibel would receive a gross-down if necessary.

The Agreements contain restrictive covenants precluding the Executives from engaging in competitive activities in a certain area and provisions preventing the Executives from disclosing proprietary information about the Corporation and ACNB Bank.

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

As Named Executive Officers, Mr. Ritter, Mr. Helt, Ms. Glass, and Mr. Cathell have entered into employment agreements with the Corporation and ACNB Bank which govern any payments upon termination or change in control. Mr. Seibel has entered into an employment agreement with ACNB Bank which governs any payments to him upon a termination or change in control. Mr. Ritter's triggering event actually occurred in May 2017, and he was not serving as a Named Executive Officer of the Corporation as of December 31, 2017; therefore, as required by the SEC, his disclosure applies to his actual triggering event, his retirement. Upon his retirement, he received payment for his accrued leave, his restricted stock vested, and he began receiving payments under his SERP. If on December 31, 2017, Messrs. Helt, Cathell, or Seibel or Ms. Glass terminated employment for Good Reason, each would have received thirty-six (36) monthly payments in an amount equal to 2.99 times his or her respective agreed compensation plus benefits for two (2) years. If Messrs. Helt, Cathell, or Seibel or Ms. Glass terminates employment after a "Change in Control", as defined in the respective employment agreements, then he or she will be entitled to a lump sum of 2.99 times his or her respective agreed compensation plus benefits for two (2) years following termination. If the Corporation terminates the Named Executive Officer's employment without "Cause", then the respective Named Executive Officer will receive thirty-six (36) monthly payments in an amount equal to 2.99 times his or her respective agreed compensation plus benefits for two (2) years. Payments pursuant to a "Change in Control" or termination without "Cause" or for "Good Reason" will be grossed-up for Messrs. Helt and Cathell and Ms. Glass to accommodate for any excise tax imposed on the payments and grossed-down for Mr. Seibel to avoid the imposition of any excise tax imposed.

All five (5) employment agreements contain noncompetition, nonsolicitation and confidentiality provisions. If the Corporation terminates the Named Executive Officer's employment without "Cause" or if the Named Executive Officer terminates employment with "Good Reason" or after a "Change in Control", then the noncompetition and nonsolicitation provisions continue for two (2) years after the termination of employment. If the Named Executive Officer's employment is terminated by the Corporation for "Cause" or if the Named Executive Officer terminates employment voluntarily without

Table of Contents

"Good Reason", then the noncompetition and nonsolicitation provisions continue for one (1) year after termination of employment.

Upon a "Change in Control" followed by a separation of service, the Named Executive Officers will become vested in the retirement benefits under the supplemental executive retirement plan agreement. If the Named Executive Officer is terminated for reasons other than the commission of a felony involving Bank property prior to retirement, then he or she will be entitled to an early termination benefit in an amount determined based upon the year in which such termination occurs. The supplemental executive retirement plan agreement contains a noncompetition provision which restricts the Named Executive Officer's ability to compete and solicit customers.

Upon any termination of employment, the respective Named Executive Officer will be entitled to receive normal retirement benefits equal to an amount determined by an actuarial formula as described in the defined benefit plan.

As President & Chief Executive Officer of Russell Insurance Group, Inc., Frank C. Russell, Jr. has entered into an employment agreement with the Corporation. If Mr. Russell is involuntarily terminated or terminates employment for "Good Reason", as defined in the agreement, he will be entitled to one (1) times his annual base salary. The agreement contains noncompetition and nonsolicitation provisions which continue for three (3) years after his termination of employment regardless of the reason for termination.

Thomas A. Ritter

The following table shows the actual payments with respect to Mr. Ritter's triggering event, his retirement.

	N	Vormal
Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Separation	Re	tirement
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan ⁽¹⁾	\$	92,297
Supplemental Executive Life Insurance	\$	0
Severance Under Employment Agreement	\$	0
Accrued Leave	\$	64,039
Health and Welfare Benefits	\$	0
Vesting of Restricted Stock	\$	33,753

(1)

Mr. Ritter will receive \$158,224 paid in twelve (12) monthly installments for the greater of 180 months or his life.

Table of Contents

James P. Helt

The following table shows the potential payments upon termination or change in control of the Corporation for James P. Helt. The chart assumes the triggering events took place on December 31, 2017.

							oluntary Not For	F	or		oluntary or Good	Change				
Executive Benefits and	Vo	luntary	Early	N	Normal		Cause	Ca	use	I	Reason	in				
Payments Upon Separation	Ter	minationRe	etirement	Re	tirement	Ter	minatióh	erm	inati	Бer	mination	Control	Di	sability		Death
Supplemental Executive																
Retirement Plan ⁽¹⁾	\$	4,504 \$	4,504	\$	26,563	\$	4,504	\$	0	\$	4,504	\$ 26,563	\$	0	\$	26,563
Supplemental Executive Life																
Insurance	\$	0 \$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0	\$	740,000
Severance Under Employment																
Agreement(2)	\$	0 \$	0	\$	0	\$	34,543(3	\$ (0	\$	34,543(3)	\$ 1,243,561(4	\$ (4	25,994(5	\$ (0
Accrued Leave	\$	55,500 \$	55,500	\$	55,500	\$	55,500	\$	0	\$	55,500	\$ 55,500	\$	55,500	\$	55,500
Health and Welfare Benefits	\$	0 \$	0	\$	1,157	\$	23,632	\$	0	\$	23,632	\$ 23,632	\$	27,571	\$	0
Restricted Stock Vesting	\$	0 \$	0	\$	32,429	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 32,429	\$	32,429	\$	32,429

(1) Annual amount paid in twelve (12) equal monthly installments for the greater of 180 months or for life.

Amounts will be grossed-up to account for any excise taxes and does not include the costs of benefits.

(3) For thirty-six (36) months.

Payable in a lump sum.

(5) Monthly amount.

Lynda L. Glass

The following table shows the potential payments upon termination or change in control of the Corporation for Lynda L. Glass. The chart assumes the triggering events took place on December 31, 2017.

								voluntary Not For]	For		oluntary or Good	(Change				
Executive Benefits and	Vo	luntary		Early	ľ	Normal		Cause	C	ause		Reason		in				
Payments Upon Separation	Ter	mination	Re	tirement	Re	tirement	Те	rminatiofic	ern	ninati	Тn	rmination	(Control	Di	sability	J	Death
Supplemental Executive Retirement	t																	
Plan ⁽¹⁾	\$	28,454	\$	28,454	\$	67,075	\$	28,454	\$	0	\$	28,454	\$	67,075	\$	0	\$	67,075
Supplemental Executive Life																		
Insurance	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	500,00
Severance Under Employment																		
Agreement(2)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	24,283(3	\$	0	\$	24,283(3)	\$	874,196(4	\$	18,273(5	\$	0
Accrued Leave	\$	43,269	\$	43,269	\$	43,269	\$	43,269	\$	0	\$	43,269	\$	43,269	\$	43,269	\$	43,269
Health and Welfare Benefits	\$	0	\$	0	\$	1,195	\$	40,111	\$	0	\$	40,111	\$	40,111	\$	60,166	\$	0
Restricted Stock Vesting	\$	0	\$	0	\$	23,425	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	23,425	\$	23,425	\$	23,425

(1) Annual amount paid in twelve (12) equal monthly installments for the greater of 180 months or for life.

Amounts will be grossed-up to account for any excise taxes and does not include the costs of benefits.

(3) For thirty-six (36) months.

(4)

(2)

Payable in a lump sum.

(5)

Monthly amount.

44

Table of Contents

David W. Cathell

The following table shows the potential payments upon termination or change in control of the Corporation for David W. Cathell. The chart assumes the triggering events took place on December 31, 2017.

							voluntary Not For	F	or		oluntary or Good	•	Change				
Executive Benefits and	Vo	oluntary	Early	ľ	Normal		Cause	Ca	ause	F	Reason		in				
Payments Upon Separation	Ter	minationR	etiremen	tRe	tirement	Te	rminatióh	erm	inatil	6 e r	mination	(Control	Di	isability		Death
Supplemental Executive Retirement	nt																
Plan ⁽¹⁾	\$	31,632 \$	31,632	\$	38,569	\$	31,632	\$	0	\$	31,632	\$	38,569	\$	0	\$	38,569
Supplemental Executive Life																	
Insurance	\$	0 \$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	472,900
Severance Under Employment																	
Agreement ⁽²⁾	\$	0 \$	0	\$	0	\$	23,158(3	\$ (0	\$	23,158(3)	\$	833,682(4	\$ (4	17,426(5	\$ (6	0
Accrued Leave	\$	40,924 \$	40,924	\$	40,924	\$	40,924	\$	0	\$	40,924	\$	40,924	\$	40,924	\$	40,924
Health and Welfare Benefits	\$	0 \$	0	\$	1,795	\$	43,385	\$	0	\$	43,385	\$	43,385	\$	28,924	\$	0
Restricted Stock Vesting	\$	0 \$	0	\$	23,425	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	23,425	\$	23,425	\$	23,425

⁽¹⁾ Annual amount paid in twelve (12) equal monthly installments for the greater of 180 months or for life.

Douglas A. Seibel

(2)

The following table shows the potential payments upon termination or change in control of the Corporation for Douglas A. Seibel. The chart assumes the triggering events took place on December 31, 2017.

						In	voluntary			V	oluntary						
]	Not For	F	or	fo	r Good	(Change				
Executive Benefits and	Vo	oluntary	Early]	Normal		Cause	Ca	ause	ŀ	Reason		in				
Payments Upon Separation	Ter	minationR	Retireme	ıtRe	etirement	Те	rminatioHe	erm	inatil	er	mination	(Control	Di	isability		Death
Supplemental Executive Life																	
Insurance	\$	0.5	\$	3 (0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	460,000
Severance Under Employment																	
Agreement ⁽¹⁾	\$	0.5	5) \$	0	\$	21,403(2	\$	0	\$	21,403(2)	\$	771,492(3	\$	16,127(4	\$ (0
Accrued Leave	\$	34,500 \$	34,50) \$	34,500	\$	34,500	\$	0	\$	34,500	\$	34,500	\$	34,500	\$	34,500
Health and Welfare Benefits	\$	0.5	5) \$	1,402	\$	36,531	\$	0	\$	36,531	\$	36,531	\$	53,275	\$	0
Restricted Stock Vesting	\$	0 \$	\$	\$ 0	16,771	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	16,771	\$	16,771	\$	16,771

⁽¹⁾ Amounts will be reduced to avoid any excise taxes and does not include the costs of benefits.

Payable in a lump sum.

(4) Monthly amount.

(2)

59

Amounts will be grossed-up to account for any excise taxes and does not include the costs of benefits.

⁽³⁾ For thirty-six (36) months.

Payable in a lump sum.

⁽⁵⁾ Monthly amount.

For thirty-six (36) months.

Table of Contents

Frank C. Russell, Jr.

The following table shows the potential payments upon termination or change in control of the Corporation for Frank C. Russell, Jr. The chart assumes the triggering events took place on December 31, 2017.

Executive Benefits and	Volur	ntary Ear	ly Norm	Involuntary Not For al Cause	For Cause	Voluntary for Good Reason	Change in	
Payments Upon Separation	Termi	nati Me tire	ne R tetiren	enTerminationI	Termination (Termination	ControlD	isability Death
Supplemental Executive Life								
Insurance	\$	0 \$	0 \$	0 \$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0.5	\$ 0 \$ 100,000
Severance Under Employment								
Agreement	\$	0 \$	0 \$	0 \$ 25,000(1)\$ 0	\$ 25,000(1)\$ 0 5	\$ 0 \$ 0

(1)

For twelve (12) months.

Transactions with Directors and Executive Officers

Some of ACNB Corporation's directors, executive officers, and their immediate family members and the companies with which they are associated were customers of and had banking transactions with ACNB Corporation's subsidiary bank during 2017. All loans and loan commitments made to them and to their companies were made in the ordinary course of bank business, on substantially the same terms, including interest rates, collateral and repayment terms, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other customers of the bank, and did not involve more than a normal risk of collectability or present other unfavorable features. ACNB Corporation's subsidiary bank anticipates that they will enter into similar transactions in the future.

The Corporation does not regularly engage in business transactions with directors and executive officers outside of its business of banking. Generally, any other significant transactions with directors or executive officers are reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on a case-by-case basis as the need arises.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

Members of the Compensation Committee during 2017 were James E. Williams, Frank Elsner, III, Todd L. Herring, Scott L. Kelley, James J. Lott, J. Emmett Patterson, Marian B. Schultz and Alan J. Stock. Each of these directors is "independent" as defined in the SEC and Nasdaq standards for independence.

No Corporation executive officer is, or was during 2017, a member of the board of directors or compensation committee (or other committee serving an equivalent function) of another company that has, or had during 2017, an executive officer serving as a member of our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is comprised of directors who meet SEC and Nasdaq standards for independence. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors in April 2000, which has been subsequently revised and is incorporated by reference from the Corporate Governance Documents section of the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation page of ACNB Bank's website at www.acnb.com.

The Audit Committee met with management periodically during the year to consider the adequacy of ACNB Corporation's internal controls and the objectivity of its financial reporting. The Audit Committee discussed these matters with ACNB Corporation's independent registered public accounting

Table of Contents

firm and with appropriate ACNB Corporation financial personnel and internal auditors. The Audit Committee also discussed with ACNB Corporation's management and independent registered public accounting firm the process used for certifications by ACNB Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, which are required for certain of ACNB Corporation's filings with the SEC.

The Audit Committee also met privately at its regular meetings with both the independent registered public accounting firm and the internal auditors, each of whom has unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee selected BDO USA, LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm for ACNB Corporation after reviewing the firm's performance and independence from management.

Management has primary responsibility for ACNB Corporation's financial statements and the overall reporting process, including ACNB Corporation's system of internal controls.

The independent registered public accounting firm audited the annual financial statements prepared by management, expressed an opinion as to whether those financial statements fairly present the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of ACNB Corporation in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, and discussed with the Audit Committee any issues the firm believes should be raised with the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee reviewed with management and BDO USA, LLP, ACNB Corporation's independent registered public accounting firm, ACNB Corporation's audited financial statements, as well as reviewed those financial statements and reports prior to issuance. Management has represented, and BDO USA, LLP has confirmed, to the Audit Committee that the financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

The Audit Committee received from and discussed with BDO USA, LLP the written disclosures and the letter required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public accounting firm's Communications with Audit Committees. These items relate to that firm's independence from ACNB Corporation. The Audit Committee also discussed with BDO USA, LLP matters required to be discussed by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard No. 16 (Communications with Audit Committees). The Audit Committee implemented a procedure to monitor auditor independence, reviewed audit and non-audit services performed by BDO USA, LLP, and discussed with the firm its independence.

The Audit Committee reviewed the audited financial statements and, based upon the review and discussions above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, which is then filed with the SEC.

At present, ACNB Corporation has one individual designated as "audit committee financial expert". The Board of Directors has determined that Daniel W. Potts is qualified to serve as ACNB Corporation's audit committee financial expert and is independent as defined under applicable SEC and Nasdaq rules.

This report is furnished by the Audit Committee.

Daniel W. Potts, Chair Richard L. Alloway II Frank Elsner, III Donna M. Newell J. Emmett Patterson Marian B. Schultz David L. Sites

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION TO PROPOSALS 8 THROUGH 11

Periodically, the Corporation reviews its Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and related corporate documents and practices to ensure that the Corporation and Board of Directors is legally compliant, functioning efficiently, and keeping up to date with the latest in corporate practices and governance. During its latest review, the Corporation and Board of Directors determined that certain current provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws regarding the Board of Directors and its composition and structure are inefficient and outmoded when compared with other similar corporations and the provisions under Pennsylvania law. Therefore, the Board of Directors is recommending Proposals 8 through 11 as presented below to modernize its governance and flexibility, make the Corporation more competitive, and meet its future goals with an eye on viability for the long term.

PROPOSAL NO. 8:

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION TO REMOVE AND DELETE ARTICLE 10 REGARDING THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Corporation is seeking to amend the Articles of Incorporation to remove Article 10 which classifies the Board of Directors. On February 27, 2018, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved and adopted resolutions to amend the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 10 in full and in its entirety and to submit the proposed amendment to the shareholders of the Corporation to approve and adopt with a recommendation by the Board of Directors to vote FOR the proposed amendment.

If shareholders approve and adopt the proposed amendment, the Corporation will file amended and restated Articles of Incorporation with the Pennsylvania Department of State, to be effective upon filing, amending its Articles of Incorporation to remove Article 10.

Currently, Article 10 of the Articles of Incorporation reads, in full and in its entirety, as follows:

10.

Classification of Directors. The Directors shall be divided into three (3) classes, as nearly equal in number as possible, known as Class 1, consisting of not more than eight (8) Directors; Class 2, consisting of not more than eight (8) Directors, and Class 3, consisting of not more than nine (9) Directors. The initial Directors of Class 1 shall serve, until the third (3rd) annual meeting of shareholders. At the third (3rd) annual meeting of shareholders, the Directors of Class 1 shall be elected for a term of three (3) years and, after expiration of such term, shall thereafter be elected every three (3) years for three (3) year terms. The initial Directors of Class 2 shall serve until the second (2nd) annual meeting of shareholders. At the second (2nd) annual meeting of shareholders, the Directors of Class 2 shall be elected for a term of three (3) years and, after the expiration of such term, shall thereafter be elected every three (3) years for three (3) year terms. The initial Directors of Class 3 shall serve until the first (1st) annual meeting of shareholders. At the first (1st) annual meeting of shareholders the Directors of Class 3 shall be elected for a term of three (3) years and, after the expiration of such term, shall thereafter be elected every three (3) years for three (3) year terms. Each Director shall serve until his/her successor shall have been elected and shall qualify, even though his/her term of office as herein provided has otherwise expired, except in the event of his/her earlier resignation, removal or disqualification.

Purpose of Removing Article 10

As currently set forth, Article 10 of the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation establishes that the Board of Directors will be a classified board structure. In the vast majority of Pennsylvania corporations which have a classified board structure, such a structure is set forth in the bylaws of the corporation and not the articles of incorporation. Proposal 10 below presents a proposed amendment to the Bylaws

Table of Contents

of the Corporation which retains the current classified board structure. While the Board intends to retain the current classified board structure for the foreseeable future, moving the classified board structure to the Bylaws provides greater flexibility in the future regarding the Board and its structure.

If approved and adopted by the shareholders of the Corporation at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 10 in full and in its entirety regarding the classification of the Board of Directors will be effective upon the filing of an appropriate certificate of amendment with the Secretary of State of Pennsylvania, which is expected to occur promptly following the shareholder vote.

Amendment Resolution

The Board of Directors proposes and recommends that shareholders approve and adopt the following resolution:

RESOLVED, that Article 10 of the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation is hereby removed and deleted in full and in its entirety.

Recommendation and Vote

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders is required to approve and adopt the amendment to the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation removing and deleting Article 10.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote "FOR" Proposal 8.

PROPOSAL NO. 9:

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION TO REMOVE AND DELETE ARTICLE 11 REGARDING FIXING THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS THAT CONSTITUTE THE WHOLE BOARD OF DIRECTORS BY THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Corporation is seeking to amend the Articles of Incorporation to remove Article 11 which grants the shareholders the authority to fix the size of the Board of Directors. On February 27, 2018, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved and adopted resolutions to amend the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 11 in full and in its entirety and to submit the proposed amendment to the shareholders of the Corporation to approve and adopt with a recommendation by the Board of Directors to vote FOR the proposed amendment.

If shareholders approve and adopt the proposed amendment, the Corporation will file amended and restated Articles of Incorporation with the Pennsylvania Department of State, to be effective upon filing, amending its Articles of Incorporation to remove Article 11.

Currently, Article 11 of the Articles of Incorporation reads, in full and in its entirety, as follows:

11.

The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than five (5) nor more than twenty-five (25) shareholders, the exact number to be fixed and determined from time to time by resolution of a majority of the shareholders at any annual or special meeting thereof.

Purpose of Removing Article 11

As currently set forth, Article 11 of the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation requires that, each year at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the shareholders must vote to set the number of directors that constitute the entire Board of Directors. As permitted by Pennsylvania Law, the vast majority of corporations reserve this function to the Board of Directors, while the shareholders only vote on the roster of directors up for election.

Table of Contents

Article 11 currently restricts the Board of Directors from adding additional directors between shareholder meetings when an attractive and qualified director candidate might become available. While the Board of Directors currently has no plans to add additional directors to the Board, delegating the power to fix the size of the Board of Directors as a whole allows for greater flexibility and responsiveness to add directors as the opportunity arises rather than waiting until the next shareholders meeting. Furthermore, Proposal 10 below presents a proposed amendment to the Bylaws of the Corporation which grants the Board of Directors the power to set the size of the Board as a whole at their discretion.

If approved and adopted by the shareholders of the Corporation at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Article 11 in full and in its entirety regarding fixing the size of the Board of Directors will be effective upon the filing of an appropriate certificate of amendment with the Secretary of State of Pennsylvania, which is expected to occur promptly following the shareholder vote.

Amendment Resolution

The Board of Directors proposes and recommends that shareholders approve and adopt the following resolution:

RESOLVED, that Article 11 of the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation is hereby removed and deleted in full and in its entirety.

Recommendation and Vote

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders is required to approve and adopt the amendment to the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation removing and deleting Article 11.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote "FOR" Proposal 9.

PROPOSAL NO. 10:

AMENDMENT TO THE BYLAWS TO ADD NEW ARTICLE II, SECTIONS 204 AND 205, CLASSIFYING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND GRANTING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AUTHORITY TO FIX THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS THAT CONSTITUTES THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS A WHOLE AND THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS IN EACH CLASS

The Corporation is seeking to amend the Bylaws to add new Article II, Sections 204 and 205, which establish the minimum and maximum size of the Board of Directors as a whole, adopts a classified structure for the Board of Directors with terms of three years, and grants the Board of Directors authority to fix the size of the Board of Directors as a whole and size of each class of the Board of Directors within the established limits. On February 27, 2018, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved and adopted resolutions to amend the Corporation's Bylaws to add new Article II, Sections 204 and 205, and to submit the proposed amendment to the shareholders of the Corporation to approve and adopt with a recommendation by the Board of Directors to vote FOR the proposed amendment.

If shareholders approve and adopt the proposed amendment to the Bylaws, the amendment will become effective upon the filing of amended and restated Articles of Incorporation with the Pennsylvania Department of State amending its Articles of Incorporation to remove and delete Articles 10 and 11 of the Articles of Incorporation in full and in their entirety as described under Proposals 8 and 9.

Table of Contents

We recommend that the shareholders approve and adopt a proposal to amend the Corporation's Bylaws by adding new Article II, Sections 204 and 205, to read in full and in their entirety as follows:

Section 204. The number of Directors that shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be not less than five (5) nor more than twenty-five (25). The Board of Directors shall be classified into three (3) classes (Class 1, Class 2 and Class 3), each class to be elected for a term of three (3) years. The terms of the respective classes shall expire in successive years as provided in Section 205 hereof. The Board of Directors shall have the sole discretion to increase the number of Directors that shall constitute the whole Board of Directors. Within the foregoing limits, the Board of Directors may from time to time fix the number of Directors and their respective classifications. Each class shall consist as nearly as possible of one-third (1/3) the number of the whole Board of Directors. Nothing herein should be construed to require exact equality in the number of Directors in each class.

Section 205. At each annual meeting of the shareholders, successors to the class of Directors whose term shall then expire shall be elected to hold office for a term of three (3) years, so that the term of office of one (1) class of Directors shall expire in each year.

Purpose of Adding Article II, Sections 204 and 205

Simultaneously, with the removal of Articles 10 and 11 from the Articles of Incorporation, pursuant to Proposals 8 and 9, the Board proposes to add similar provisions to the Bylaws (consistent with Pennsylvania Law) that establishes the minimum and maximum size of the Board of Directors, adopts a classified structure for the Board, and grants the Board of Directors authority to fix the size of the Board of Directors and size of each class of the Board of Directors within the established limits.

In the vast majority of Pennsylvania corporations which have a classified board structure, such a structure is set forth in the bylaws of the corporation and not the articles of incorporation. The new Sections 204 and 205 preserve the Corporation's current classified board structure of three classes of directors with each class elected for three year terms. While the Board intends to retain the current classified board structure for the foreseeable future, moving the classified board structure to the Bylaws provides greater flexibility in the future regarding the Board of Directors and its structure.

Furthermore, the proposed Bylaw amendment grants the Board of Directors the power to set the size of the Board of Directors at their discretion within the prescribed limits and add additional directors between meetings of the shareholders when an attractive and qualified director candidate might become available. While the Board of Directors currently has no plans to add additional directors to the Board of Directors, delegating the power to fix the size of the Board of Directors to the Board of Directors allows for greater flexibility and responsiveness to add directors as the opportunity arises rather than waiting until the next shareholders meeting.

Amendment Resolutions

The Board of Directors proposes and recommends that shareholders approve and adopt the following resolutions:

RESOLVED, that the Bylaws are hereby amended to add new Article II, Section 204, to read in full and in its entirety as follows and to be effective at the date and time of the effectiveness of the amendments to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation:

Section 204. The number of Directors that shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be not less than five (5) nor more than twenty-five (25). The Board of Directors shall be classified into three (3) classes (Class 1, Class 2 and Class 3), each class to be elected for a term of three (3) years. The terms of the respective classes shall expire in successive years as provided in Section 205 hereof. The Board of Directors shall have the sole discretion to increase the number

Table of Contents

of Directors that shall constitute the whole Board of Directors. Within the foregoing limits, the Board of Directors may from time to time fix the number of Directors and their respective classifications. Each class shall consist as nearly as possible of one-third (1/3) the number of the whole Board of Directors. Nothing herein should be construed to require exact equality in the number of Directors in each class.

RESOLVED, that the Bylaws are hereby amended to add new Article II, Section 205 to read in full and in its entirety as follows and to be effective at the date and time of the effectiveness of the amendments to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation:

Section 205. At each annual meeting of the shareholders, successors to the class of Directors whose term shall then expire shall be elected to hold office for a term of three (3) years, so that the term of office of one (1) class of Directors shall expire in each year.

Recommendation and Vote

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders is required to approve and adopt the amendment to the Corporation's Bylaws adding new Article II, Sections 204 and 205.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote "FOR" Proposal 10.

PROPOSAL NO. 11:

AMENDMENT TO CURRENT ARTICLE II, SECTION 204, OF THE BYLAWS AND THEREAFTER RENUMBER IT AS SECTION 206 TO ALLOW DIRECTORS APPOINTED OR ELECTED TO VACANCIES ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO SERVE UNTIL THE EXPIRATION OF THE TERM OF OFFICE OF THE CLASS TO WHICH THE DIRECTOR WAS APPOINTED OR ELECTED

The Corporation is seeking to amend current Article II, Section 204, of the Bylaws to allow directors who are appointed or elected to a vacancy on the Board of Directors to serve until the expiration of the term of office of the class to which such director was appointed and renumber it Section 206. On February 27, 2018, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved and adopted resolutions to amend the Corporation's Bylaws to amend and renumber Article II, Section 204 and to submit the proposed amendment to the shareholders of the Corporation to approve and adopt with a recommendation by the Board of Directors to vote FOR the proposed amendment.

We recommend that the shareholders approve and adopt a proposal to amend current Article II, Section 204, of the Corporation's Bylaws regarding vacancies and renumber it Section 206 to read in full and in its entirety as follows:

Section 204206. Vacancies. Vacancies in the Board of Directors, including vacancies resulting from an increase in the number of Directors, may be filled by the remaining members of the Board even though less than a quorum. Any Director appointed or elected to fill a vacancy in the Board of Directors shall become a member of the same class of Directors in which the vacancy existed; but if the vacancy is due to an increase in the number of Directors, a majority of the members of the Board of Directors shall designate such directorship as belonging to Class 1, Class 2 or Class 3 so as to maintain the three (3) classes of Directors as nearly equal in number as possible. Each Director so appointed or elected shall be a Director until his successor is elected by the shareholders, who may make such election at the next annual meeting of the shareholders or at any special meeting duly ealled for that purpose and held prior thereto. the expiration of the term of office of the class of Directors to which he was appointed or elected, and until his successor has been elected and qualified by the shareholders or until his earlier death, resignation or removal.

Table of Contents

Purpose of Amending Current Article II, Section 204

As currently set forth, Article II, Section 204, permits any person elected to fill a vacancy on the Board of Directors to serve until the next annual or special meeting of shareholders at which time such person must be reelected by shareholders. Pennsylvania law permits any director chosen to fill a vacancy, including a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of directors, to hold office until the expiration of the term of office of the class for which such director has been chosen, and until his successor has been selected and qualified or until his earlier death, resignation or removal. The Board of Directors believes it is in the best interests of the Corporation and shareholders to allow directors appointed or elected to fill vacancies to serve until the expiration of the term of the class to which such persons are appointed or elected. Also, by adding new Article II, Sections 204 and 205, as described in Proposal 10, current Section 204 along with the remaining sections through Section 211must be renumbered accordingly.

Amendment Resolutions

The Board of Directors proposes and recommends that shareholders approve and adopt the following resolutions:

RESOLVED, that the Bylaws are hereby amended to amend and renumber current Article II, Section 204, to read in full and in its entirety as follows and to be effective at the date and time of the effectiveness of the amendments to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation:

Section 204 206. Vacancies. Vacancies in the Board of Directors, including vacancies resulting from an increase in the number of Directors, may be filled by the remaining members of the Board even though less than a quorum. Any Director appointed or elected to fill a vacancy in the Board of Directors shall become a member of the same class of Directors in which the vacancy existed; but if the vacancy is due to an increase in the number of Directors, a majority of the members of the Board of Directors shall designate such directorship as belonging to Class 1, Class 2 or Class 3 so as to maintain the three (3) classes of Directors as nearly equal in number as possible. Each Director so appointed or elected shall be a Director until his successor is elected by the shareholders, who may make such election at the next annual meeting of the shareholders or at any special meeting duly called for that purpose and held prior thereto. the expiration of the term of office of the class of Directors to which he was appointed or elected, and until his successor has been elected and qualified by the shareholders or until his earlier death, resignation or removal.

Recommendation and Vote

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders is required to approve and adopt the amendment to the Corporation's Bylaws amending current Article II, Section 204, and renumbering it Section 206.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote "FOR" Proposal 11.

PROPOSAL NO. 12:

APPROVAL AND RATIFICATION OF THE ACNB CORPORATION 2018 OMNIBUS STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

On March 20, 2018, the Board of Directors approved and adopted the ACNB Corporation 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee (the "Stock Incentive Plan"). We are asking shareholders to approve and ratify the Stock Incentive Plan. If approved, the effective date of the Stock Incentive Plan will be March 20, 2018.

Table of Contents

The 2009 Restricted Stock Plan, which was approved by our shareholders at the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, expires by its own terms prior to our 2019 Annual Meeting. As a result, the Board of Directors approved the Stock Incentive Plan to replace the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan. It is intended that once the Stock Incentive Plan is approved, the Corporation will no longer utilize the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan. The Stock Incentive Plan will be in effect for ten (10) years. Over the course of the ten (10) years, the most effective form of equity compensation necessary to further the best interests of the Corporation may evolve. The Compensation Committee may determine that in 2018, the most effective form of equity compensation is restricted stock, but in 2019 the most effective form may be options. The Stock Incentive Plan provides the Compensation Committee with a variety of options for utilizing equity compensation to incentivize employees and directors. The Compensation Committee does not intend to deviate from its current compensation philosophy. The purpose of the Stock Incentive Plan is to provide flexibility to the Corporation to attract, retain and motivate employees and directors, to provide additional incentives to certain employees and directors, and to improve the growth and financial condition of the Corporation and its subsidiaries.

Reasons for Shareholder Approval

Consistent with the Corporation's long history of transparency, the Board is seeking shareholder approval of the Plan. The Board believes that by having additional flexibility with the awarding of equity as compensation, the Board can adjust the types of compensation awarded to directors and executives based upon industry standards and safety and soundness principles. On February 24, 2009, the Corporation established the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan. However, pursuant to its terms no additional awards may be granted under the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan after February 24, 2019. Therefore, the Stock Incentive Plan is also intended to replace the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan as a compensation vehicle for the Corporation. Finally, shareholder approval is required for the Corporation to provide equity compensation under Nasdaq listing requirements.

Summary of the Material Terms of the Stock Incentive Plan

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Stock Incentive Plan. The summary is qualified in its entirety by the full Stock Incentive Plan, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as <u>Exhibit A</u>.

Effective Date; Duration

The Stock Incentive Plan will become effective upon the approval by the Corporation's shareholders. If any awards are granted under the Stock Incentive Plan prior to such shareholder approval, such awards will be conditioned upon shareholder approval and will not be exercisable prior to such approval and lapse upon failure of such approval. Except with respect to awards then outstanding, unless sooner terminated by the Board of Directors, the Stock Incentive Plan will expire on March 20, 2028, and no further awards may be granted after that date.

Administration

The Stock Incentive Plan will be administered by the Board of Directors or by a committee of the Board. The Board or committee will have authority and discretion to, among other things, interpret the Stock Incentive Plan, amend and rescind any rules or regulations relating to the Stock Incentive Plan, determine who will be granted awards under the Stock Incentive Plan, prescribe the terms and conditions of each award and make any and all determinations that may be necessary or advisable for the administration of the Stock Incentive Plan. The Board or committee shall also have the authority to determine what, to whom, when and under what facts and circumstances awards will be made.

Table of Contents

Eligibility

Directors, key officers and other employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are eligible to receive awards as determined by the Board or committee. Approximately 373 employees and 14 non-employee directors would be eligible to participate in the Stock Incentive Plan if it were currently in place.

Shares Available for Awards; Limits on Awards

The Corporation has reserved an aggregate of 400,000 shares of common stock to be awarded under the Stock Incentive Plan, plus shares of common stock that are authorized, but not issued under the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan, as may be adjusted under the terms of the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan. The total share reserve was determined by analyzing similar plan established by our peers. We considered the asset size of our peers, their number of shares outstanding, the number of shares available under their respective plan, and the overall percentage that the numbers of shares under their plan represented to their total number of shares outstanding.

Up to 400,000 shares of common stock may be issued under the Stock Incentive Plan, in the aggregate, with respect to qualified stock options.

The aggregate number of shares of common stock granted to any employee during any calendar year shall not exceed 50,000 shares (whether such awards may be settled in shares, cash or any combination of shares and cash), subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms of the Stock Incentive Plan. The aggregate number of shares of common stock granted to any non-employee director during any calendar year shall not exceed 50,000 shares (whether such awards may be settled in shares, cash or any combination of shares and cash), subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms of the Stock Incentive Plan.

Any shares subject to an award, under the Stock Incentive Plan or the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan, that for any reason, lapses or terminates prior to exercise, shall again become available for grant under the Stock Incentive Plan.

The Board or committee will make appropriate adjustments to the limits above to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of a participant under the Stock Incentive Plan.

Awards Available

Awards that may be granted under the Stock Incentive Plan include stock options (including qualified stock options and non-qualified stock options), stock appreciation rights ("SARs"), stock awards, restricted stock, stock units and restricted stock units ("RSUs"), performance awards, and director compensation. All awards and the terms and conditions of such awards will be set forth in a written agreement. The Corporation does not foresee awarding multiple forms of awards in a given year, but will use the variety of awards available to determine which form of award will further the Corporation's best interests.

Stock Options

A stock option is the right to purchase shares of common stock at a future date at a specified price per share called the exercise price. An option may be either a qualified stock option or a non-qualified stock option. Qualified stock options are intended to qualify for certain tax treatment as incentive stock options under Internal Revenue Code Sections 421 and 422, and therefore, qualified stock options and non-qualified stock options are taxed differently, as described below under "Federal Income Tax Consequences of Awards". The exercise price of a stock option may not be less than the fair market value (or in the case of a qualified stock option granted to a ten percent (10%) shareholder, 110% of the fair market value) of a share of common stock on the grant date. The time

Table of Contents

period during which any stock option is exercisable, as determined by the Board or committee, shall not commence before the expiration of 6 months or continue beyond 10 years after the date of grant.

As of the record date, the closing price of our common stock was \$29.15.

Stock Appreciation Rights

A SAR is the right to receive payment of an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of exercise of the SAR over the exercise price. The exercise price of a SAR may not be less than the fair market value of a share of common stock on the grant date. SARs may be granted alone ("freestanding rights") or in tandem with another award ("related rights").

Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Awards

A stock award is an award of actual shares of common stock subject to such terms and conditions as determined by the Board or committee and may be issued for consideration or no consideration. A restricted stock award is a stock award which is subject to certain restrictions for a period of time determined by the Board or committee. Restricted stock may be held by the Company in escrow or delivered to the participant pending the release of the restrictions. The participant generally has the rights and privileges of a shareholder as to such restricted stock during the restricted period, including the right to vote the restricted stock and the right to receive dividends.

Stock Units and Restricted Stock Units

A stock unit is an award of hypothetical common stock units having a value equal to the fair market value of an identical number of shares of common stock subject to such terms and conditions as determined by the Board or committee and may be issued for consideration or no consideration. A RSU is a stock unit, which is subject to certain restrictions for a period of time determined by the Board or committee. No shares of common stock are issued at the time a RSU is granted, and the Corporation is not required to set aside any funds for the payment of any RSU award. Prior to settlement of a RSU award and the receipt of shares, the participant does not have any rights as a shareholder with respect to such shares. The Board or committee may grant RSUs with a deferral feature (deferred stock units or DSUs), whereby settlement of the RSU is deferred beyond the vesting date until a future payment date or event set out in the participant's award agreement. The Committee has the discretion to credit RSUs or DSUs with dividend equivalents.

Performance Awards

A performance award is an award of cash, shares of common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of common stock that are only earned if certain conditions are met. The Board or committee has the discretion to determine: the number of shares of common stock or stock-denominated units subject to a performance share award; the applicable performance period; the conditions that must be satisfied for a participant to earn an award; and, the other terms, conditions and restrictions of the award. The performance goals to be achieved during any performance period shall be determined by the Board or committee upon the grant of each performance award. The Board or committee shall determine whether, and the extent to which, the applicable performance goals have been achieved or satisfied and the amount of the performance awards that shall be distributed based upon such determination. Except as otherwise provided in a written agreement, performance awards shall be distributed only after the end of a relevant performance period. A performance award may be determined to be a qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Table of Contents

Director Compensation

The Board or committee may permit, in its sole discretion, a director to elect to receive all or a portion of his or her annual cash retainer payment in the form of options or shares of stock. The number of options or shares will be calculated by dividing the amount of foregone cash compensation by the fair market value of a share of stock.

Adjustments upon Changes in Stock

In the event that the shares of the Corporation shall be changed into or exchanged for a different number or kind of common stock or other securities of the Corporation or of another corporation or entity (whether by reason of merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reclassification, split-up, combination of shares or otherwise) or if the number of such common stock shall be increased through a payment of a stock dividend, stock split or similar transaction, then, there shall be substituted for or added to each share of common stock of the Corporation that was theretofore appropriated, or previously awarded under the Stock Incentive Plan, or which thereafter may become subject to an award under the Stock Incentive Plan, the number and kind of common stock or other securities into which each outstanding share of common stock of the Corporation shall be so changed or for which each such share shall be exchanged or to which each such share shall be entitled, as the case may be. Each outstanding award shall be appropriately amended as to price and other terms, as may be necessary to reflect the foregoing events.

Acceleration

The Board or committee may permit acceleration of previously established exercise terms of any awards as, when, under such facts and circumstances, and subject to such other or further requirements and conditions as the Board or committee may deem necessary or appropriate.

If the Corporation or its shareholders execute an agreement to dispose of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets or capital stock by means of sale, merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or otherwise, as a result of which the Corporation's shareholders, as of immediately before the transaction, will not own at least fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of voting capital stock of the surviving entity (be it the Corporation or otherwise) immediately after the consummation of the transaction, then any and all outstanding awards shall immediately become and remain exercisable or, if the transaction is not consummated, until the agreement relating to the transaction expires or is terminated, in which case, all awards shall be treated as if the agreement was never executed.

If there is an actual, attempted or threatened change in the ownership of at least thirty percent (30%) of any class of voting stock of the Corporation through the acquisition of, or an offer to acquire such percentage of the Corporation's voting stock by any person or entity, or persons or entities acting in concert or as a group, and such acquisition or offer has not been duly approved by the Board of Directors, then any and all outstanding awards shall immediately become and remain exercisable.

Amendment or Termination

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Board may amend, modify, suspend or terminate the Stock Incentive Plan at any time. The amendment, modification, suspension or termination of the Stock Incentive Plan shall not, without the consent of the participants, alter or impair any rights or obligations under any award. Additionally, the Stock Incentive Plan is intended to satisfy the requirements of Section 409A Internal Revenue Code and the Board or committee may amend or modify the terms or conditions of an award to the extent the Board or committee determines, in its sole discretion, that the terms and conditions of an award violate or may violate Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. The Stock Incentive Plan shall terminate on March 20, 2028.

Table of Contents

Clawback and Recoupment

Any award granted under the Stock Incentive Plan is subject to any clawback policy in effect at the Corporation or a subsidiary or as otherwise indicated in the grant agreement.

Federal Income Tax Consequences of Awards

The following is a summary of the U.S. federal income tax consequences of awards granted under the Stock Incentive Plan. This summary is based on U.S. federal income tax laws and regulations in effect on the date of this proxy statement and is not a complete description of the U.S. federal income tax laws. This summary is not intended to be exhaustive and does not constitute legal or tax advice. This summary does not address municipal, state or foreign income tax consequences of awards, or federal employment taxes.

Non-Qualified Stock Options

The grant of a non-qualified stock option will not result in taxable income to the participant. The participant will recognize ordinary income at the time of exercise equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise over the exercise price, and the Corporation will be entitled to a corresponding deduction for tax purposes. Gains or losses realized by the participant upon the sale of the shares acquired on exercise will be treated as capital gains or losses.

Qualified Stock Options

The grant of a qualified stock option will not result in taxable income to the participant. The exercise of a qualified stock option will not result in taxable income to the participant if at the time of exercise the participant has been employed by the Corporation or its subsidiaries at all times beginning on the date the qualified stock option was granted and ending not more than 90 days before the date of exercise. However, the excess of the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise over the exercise price is an adjustment that is included in the calculation of the participant's alternative minimum tax liability for the year the shares are sold.

If the participant does not sell the shares acquired on exercise within two years from the date of grant and one year from the date of exercise then on the sale of the shares any amount realized in excess of the exercise price will be taxed as capital gain. If the amount realized in the sale is less than the exercise price, then the participant will recognize a capital loss.

If these holding requirements are not met, then the participant will generally recognize ordinary income at the time the shares are sold in an amount equal to the lesser of (a) the excess of the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise over the exercise price, or (b) the excess, if any, of the amount realized on the sale of the shares over the exercise price, and the Corporation will be entitled to a corresponding deduction.

Stock Appreciation Rights

The grant of a SAR will not result in taxable income to the participant. The participant will recognize ordinary income at the time of exercise equal to the amount of cash received or the fair market value of the shares received and the Corporation will be entitled to a corresponding deduction for tax purposes. If the SARs are settled in shares, then when the shares are sold the participant will recognize capital gain or loss on the difference between the sale price and the amount recognized at exercise. Whether it is a long-term or short-term gain or loss depends on how long the shares are held.

Table of Contents

Restricted Stock and Performance Shares

Unless a participant makes an election to accelerate the recognition of income to the grant date (as described below), the grant of restricted stock or performance shares awards will not result in taxable income to the participant. When the restrictions lapse, the participant will recognize ordinary income on the excess of the fair market value of the shares on the vesting date over the amount paid for the shares, if any, and the Corporation will be entitled to a corresponding deduction.

If the participant makes an election under Internal Revenue Code Section 83(b) within thirty days after the grant date, the participant will recognize ordinary income as of the grant date equal to the fair market value of the shares on the grant date over the amount paid, if any, and the Corporation will be entitled to a corresponding deduction. Any future appreciation will be taxed at capital gains rates. However, if the shares are later forfeited, the participant will not be able to recover any taxes paid.

Stock Units and Restricted Stock Units

The grant of a stock unit or RSU will not result in taxable income to the participant. When the stock unit or RSU is settled, the participant will recognize ordinary income equal to the fair market value of the shares or the cash provided on settlement, and the Corporation will be entitled to a corresponding deduction. Any future appreciation will be taxed at capital gains rates.

Section 409A

Internal Revenue Code Section 409A imposes complex rules on non-qualified deferred compensation arrangements, including requirements with respect to elections to defer compensation and the timing of payment of deferred amounts. Depending on how they are structured, certain equity-based awards may be subject to Section 409A, while others are exempt. If an award is subject to Section 409A and a violation occurs, the compensation is includible in income when no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture and the participant may be subject to a 20% penalty tax and, in some cases, interest penalties. The Incentive Stock Plan and awards granted under the Incentive Stock Plan are intended to be exempt from or conform to the requirements of Section 409A.

Section 162(m) and the Company's Deduction

Generally, whenever a participant recognizes ordinary income under the Stock Incentive Plan, a corresponding deduction is available to the Corporation provided that the Corporation complies with certain reporting requirements. However, under Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m), the Corporation will be denied a deduction for compensation paid to certain senior executives that exceeds \$1,000,000.

Beginning January 1, 2018, with the passage and signing of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Act"), this limitation will apply to the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, the Corporation's other Named Executive Officers, and anyone who was a covered person after December 31, 2016. Prior to January 1, 2018, certain performance-based compensation was excluded from the \$1,000,000 deduction limit. With the passage and signing of the Act, beginning January 1, 2018 (with an exception for certain grandfathered arrangements), the Corporation will be denied a deduction for any compensation exceeding \$1,000,000 for such covered individuals, regardless of whether the compensation is performance-based compensation.

Table of Contents

New Plan Benefits

No determination has yet been made as to the awards, if any, that any eligible individuals will be granted in the future and, therefore, the benefits to be awarded under the Stock Incentive Plan are not determinable.

Required Vote

Approval and ratification of the ACNB Corporation 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the annual meeting.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote "FOR" approval and ratification of the ACNB Corporation 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Corporation recently conducted a review, analysis and due diligence which resulted in a competitive selection process to determine the Corporation's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018. As a result of this process, on March 20, 2018, the Audit Committee appointed RSM US LLP as the Corporation's independent registered public accounting firm, contingent upon completion of RSM US LLP's client acceptance procedures, and dismissed BDO USA, LLP from that role. At the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, shareholders will consider and vote on the approval and ratification of the selection of RSM US LLP for the year ending December 31, 2018.

The reports of BDO USA, LLP on the Corporation's financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of an opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

During the Corporation's two most recent fiscal years and the subsequent interim period preceding BDO USA, LLP's dismissal, there were: (i) no disagreements with BDO USA, LLP on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of BDO USA, LLP, would have caused it to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreements in its reports on the consolidated financial statements for the Corporation; and, (ii) no "reportable events", as such term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

Aggregate fees billed to ACNB Corporation by BDO USA, LLP for 2017 and 2016 for services rendered are presented below:

	Year Ended December 31, 2017		Year Ended December 31, 2016	
Audit Fees	\$	364,509	\$	168,143
Audit-Related Fees				5,691
Tax Fees		28,663		21,183
All Other Fees				
Total Fees	\$	393,172	\$	195,017

Audit Fees include fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of the Corporation's annual consolidated financial statements and the review of consolidated financial statements included in Forms 10-Q, or services normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings (i.e., attest services required by FDICIA or Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act), including out-of-pocket expenses and for 2017 fees billed for procedures related to registration statement filings and audit procedures related to the acquisition of New Windsor Bancorp, Inc.

Table of Contents

Audit-Related Fees include for 2016 fees billed for due diligence related to the anticipated merger.

Tax Fees include fees billed for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning.

The Audit Committee has considered whether, and determined that, the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the independence of BDO USA, LLP.

The Audit Committee preapproves all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent auditors. These services may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services, and other services. Preapproval will generally be provided for up to one (1) year, and any preapproval is detailed as to the particular service or category of services and is subject to a specific budget. In addition, the Audit Committee may also preapprove particular services on a case-by-case basis. None of the services related to the Audit-Related Fees, Tax Fees or All Other Fees described above were approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to the preapproval waiver provisions set forth in the applicable SEC rules. In addition, the Audit Committee annually considers and recommends to the Board of Directors the selection of the Corporation's independent registered public accounting firm as independent auditors.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires ACNB Corporation's directors, executive officers, and shareholders who beneficially own more than 10% of ACNB Corporation's outstanding equity stock to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of common stock and other equity securities of ACNB Corporation with the SEC. Based on a review of copies of the reports we received, and on the statements of the reporting persons, we believe that all Section 16(a) filing requirements were complied with in a timely manner during 2017 with the exception of Messrs. Rasmussen and Stone, who each had one (1) late filing for one (1) transaction.

PROPOSALS

Cumulative voting rights do not exist with respect to the election of directors. The six (6) nominees for Class 2 Director and one (1) nominee for Class 1 Director receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes cast (in person or by proxy which are entitled to vote at the annual meeting) by those shareholders entitled to vote will be elected directors of the Corporation.

For the election of directors in Proposals 5 and 6, you may vote "FOR" all of the nominees or your vote may be "WITHHELD" with respect to one (1) or more of the nominees. For the other proposals, you may vote "FOR", "AGAINST" or "ABSTAIN". If you "ABSTAIN", it has the same effect as a vote "AGAINST". If you sign your proxy card or broker voting instruction card, or vote via internet or telephone, with no further instructions, your shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board ("FOR" all of the Board's nominees, and "FOR" all other proposals described in this proxy statement).

1. TO FIX THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS OF ACNB CORPORATION AT FIFTEEN (15).

The Board of Directors recommends a vote **FOR** this proposal.

2. TO FIX THE NUMBER OF CLASS 1 DIRECTORS AT FIVE (5).

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal.

Table of Contents

3. TO FIX THE NUMBER OF CLASS 2 DIRECTORS AT SIX (6).

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal.

4. TO FIX THE NUMBER OF CLASS 3 DIRECTORS AT FOUR (4).

The Board of Directors recommends a vote **FOR** this proposal.

5. TO ELECT SIX (6) CLASS 2 DIRECTORS TO SERVE FOR TERMS OF THREE (3) YEARS AND UNTIL THEIR SUCCESSORS ARE ELECTED AND QUALIFIED.

Nominees for Class 2 Directors are:

Richard L. Alloway II
Donna M. Newell
David L. Sites
Thomas A. Ritter
Alan J. Stock

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of these nominees.

6. TO ELECT ONE (1) CLASS 1 DIRECTOR TO SERVE FOR A TERM OF ONE (1) YEAR AND UNTIL HIS SUCCESSOR IS ELECTED AND QUALIFIED.

Nominee for Class 1 Director is:

Todd L. Herring

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of this nominee.

7. TO CONDUCT A NON-BINDING VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

In accordance with the requirements of Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") (which was added by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act")) and the related rules of the SEC, we are including in these proxy materials a separate resolution subject to shareholder vote to approve, in a non-binding vote, the compensation of our Named Executive Officers.

The shareholders approved a resolution at the Corporation's 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to conduct an annual advisory vote on the Corporation's executive compensation for the Named Executive Officers.

As described in detail in this proxy statement, our executive compensation programs are designed to attract, motivate, reward and retain our Named Executive Officers, who are critical to our success. We are asking our shareholders to indicate their support for our Named Executive Officer compensation as described in this proxy statement. This proposal, commonly known as a "Say on Pay" proposal, gives our shareholders the opportunity to express their views on our Named Executive Officer compensation. This vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall compensation of our Named Executive Officers and the philosophy, policies and practices described in this proxy statement. Accordingly, we ask our shareholders to vote "FOR" the following resolution at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders:

RESOLVED, that the Corporation's shareholders approve, on a non-binding basis, the compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in the Corporation's Proxy Statement for the 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the compensation tables, narrative discussion, and the other related tables and disclosure.

Table of Contents

The Say on Pay vote is advisory, and therefore not binding on the Corporation, the Compensation Committee, or the Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors and our Compensation Committee value the opinions of our shareholders and, to the extent there is any significant vote against the Named Executive Officer compensation as disclosed in this proxy statement, we will consider our shareholders' concerns and the Compensation Committee will evaluate whether any actions are necessary to address those concerns.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote **FOR** this proposal.

8. TO APPROVE AND ADOPT AN AMENDMENT TO THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION TO REMOVE AND DELETE ARTICLE 10 REGARDING THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal.

9. TO APPROVE AND ADOPT AN AMENDMENT TO THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION TO REMOVE AND DELETE ARTICLE 11 REGARDING FIXING THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS THAT CONSTITUTE THE WHOLE BOARD OF DIRECTORS BY THE SHAREHOLDERS.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote **FOR** this proposal.

10. TO APPROVE AND ADOPT AN AMENDMENT TO THE BYLAWS TO ADD NEW ARTICLE II, SECTIONS 204 AND 205, CLASSIFYING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND GRANTING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AUTHORITY TO FIX THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS THAT CONSTITUTES THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS A WHOLE AND THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS IN EACH CLASS.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote **FOR** this proposal.

11. TO APPROVE AND ADOPT AN AMENDMENT TO CURRENT ARTICLE II, SECTION 204, OF THE BYLAWS AND THEREAFTER RENUMBER IT AS SECTION 206 TO ALLOW DIRECTORS APPOINTED OR ELECTED TO VACANCIES ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO SERVE UNTIL THE EXPIRATION OF THE TERM OF OFFICE OF THE CLASS TO WHICH THE DIRECTOR WAS APPOINTED OR ELECTED.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal.

12. TO APPROVE AND RATIFY THE ACNB CORPORATION 2018 OMNIBUS STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal.

13. TO RATIFY THE SELECTION OF RSM US LLP AS ACNB CORPORATION'S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2018.

The Board of Directors has approved the selection of RSM US LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm for the examination of its financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018. BDO USA, LLP served as the Corporation's independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended December 31, 2017.

RSM US LLP has advised us that neither the firm nor any of its associates has any relationship with the Corporation or its subsidiaries other than the usual relationship that exists between the independent registered public accounting firm and its clients.

Table of Contents

We expect a representative of RSM US LLP to be present at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to respond to appropriate questions, and to make a statement if the representative desires to do so. We do not expect a representative of BDO USA, LLP to be present at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal.

14. TO TRANSACT SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE 2018 ANNUAL MEETING AND ANY ADJOURNMENT OR POSTPONEMENT THEREOF.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Any shareholder may obtain a copy of ACNB Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, including the financial statements and related schedules and exhibits, required to be filed with the SEC, without charge, by submitting a written request to Corporate Relations, ACNB Corporation, 16 Lincoln Square, P. O. Box 3129, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania 17325, or by calling (717) 339-5085. You may also view these documents on our website at *acnb.com* under the Investor Relations/ACNB Corporation tab or directly at https://www.acnb.com/acnb-corporation.

OTHER MATTERS

The Board of Directors knows of no matters other than those discussed in this proxy statement that will be presented at the annual meeting. However, if any other matters are properly brought before the meeting, any proxy given pursuant to this solicitation will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors.

Exhibit A

ACNB Corporation 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan

- 1. *Purpose*. The purpose of the 2018 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan") is to provide flexibility to ACNB Corporation (the "Corporation") to attract, retain and motivate employees and directors, to provide additional incentives to certain employees and directors, and to improve the growth and financial condition of the Corporation and any subsidiary now or hereafter existing (a "Subsidiary").
- 2. *Term.* The Plan shall become effective as of March 20, 2018, the date it is adopted by the Corporation's Board of Directors (the "Board"), and shall be presented for approval at the next meeting of the Corporation's shareholders. Any and all options and rights awarded under the Plan (the "Awards") before it is approved by the Corporation's shareholders shall be conditioned upon, and may not be exercised before, receipt of shareholder approval, and shall lapse upon failure to receive such approval. Unless previously terminated by the Board, the Plan shall terminate on, and no Awards shall be granted after, the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the Plan.
 - 3. Shares.
- (a) Available Shares. Shares of the Corporation's common stock, \$2.50 par value (the "Shares"), that may be issued under the Plan shall not exceed, 400,000 shares, all of which may be issued in respect to Qualified Options (as defined below), plus any Shares that are authorized, but not issued under the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan, as may be adjusted pursuant to Section 23 hereof. Shares issued under the Plan may be (1) authorized and unissued Shares, (2) authorized Shares issued by and subsequently reacquired by the Corporation as treasury stock, or (3) Shares purchased in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. Except as may be otherwise provided in the Plan, any Shares subject to an Award, under the Plan or under the 2009 Restricted Stock Plan, that for any reason, lapses or terminates prior to exercise, shall again become available for grant under the Plan. While the Plan is in effect, the Corporation shall reserve and keep available the number of Shares needed to satisfy the requirements of the Plan. Awards that do not entitle the participant to receive or purchase Shares shall not be counted against the aggregate number of Shares available for Awards under the Plan.

The Corporation shall apply for any requisite governmental approvals to issue Shares under the Plan. The Corporation's failure to obtain any such governmental approval, deemed necessary by the Corporation's legal counsel for the lawful issuance and sale of Shares under the Plan, shall relieve the Corporation of any duty, or liability, for the failure to issue or sell the Shares.

(b) *Share Limitations.* The aggregate number of Shares that may be granted to any employee of the Corporation or a Subsidiary during any calendar year shall not exceed 50,000 Shares (whether such Awards may be settled in Shares, cash, or any combination thereof), subject to the adjustments as provided by Section 23 hereof.

The aggregate number of Shares that may be granted to a non-employee director of the Corporation or a Subsidiary during any calendar year shall not exceed 50,000 Shares (whether such Awards may be settled in Shares, cash, or any combination thereof), subject to the adjustments as provided by Section 23 hereof.

4. Administration. The ability to control and manage the operation and administration of the Plan shall be vested in the Board or in a committee of three or more members of the Board, selected by the Board in compliance with all federal and state laws, the rules and regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Corporation's stock is listed or quoted (the "Committee"). The

Table of Contents

Committee shall have the authority and discretion to interpret the Plan, to establish, amend and rescind any rules and regulations relating to the Plan, to determine the terms and provisions of any Award Agreements (as defined below) made pursuant to the Plan, and to make any and all determinations that may be necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan. Any interpretations of the Plan by the Committee and any decisions made by the Committee under the Plan are final and binding.

The Committee shall be responsible and shall have full, absolute and final power of authority to determine what, to whom, when and under what facts and circumstances Awards shall be made, the form, number, terms, conditions and duration thereof, including but not limited to when exercisable, the number of Shares subject thereto, and the purchase prices. The Committee shall make all other determinations and decisions, take all actions and do all things necessary or appropriate in and for the administration of the Plan. No member of the Committee or of the Board shall be liable for any decision, determination or action made or taken in good faith by such person under or with respect to the Plan or its administration.

Except as prohibited by applicable law, the Committee may delegate any portion of its responsibilities and powers to one or more officers or such other persons selected by it.

- 5. Awards. Awards may be made under the Plan in the form of: (a) "Qualified Options" to purchase Shares, which are intended to qualify for certain tax treatment as incentive stock options under Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Code") Sections 421 and 422, (b) "Non-Qualified Options" to purchase Shares, which are not intended to qualify under Code Sections 421 through 424, (c) "Stock Appreciation Rights" ("SARs"), (d) "Stock Awards" and "Restricted Stock," (e) "Stock Units" and "Restricted Stock Units," (f) "Performance Awards" and (g) Directors' Fees. More than one Award may be granted to an Eligible Person (as defined below) ("Grantee"), and the grant of any Award shall not prohibit the grant of another Award, either to the same person or otherwise, or impose any obligation to exercise on the participant. All Awards and the terms and conditions thereof shall be set forth in written agreements, in such form and content as approved by the Committee from time to time, and shall be subject to the provisions of the Plan whether or not contained in such agreements ("Award Agreement"). Multiple Awards for a particular person may be set forth in a single written agreement or in multiple agreements, as determined by the Committee.
- 6. *Eligibility*. Persons eligible to receive Awards shall be the directors, key officers and other employees of the Corporation and of each Subsidiary, as determined by the Committee ("Eligible Person"). A person's eligibility to receive an Award shall not confer upon him or her any right to receive an Award. Except as otherwise provided, a person's eligibility to receive, or actual receipt of an Award under the Plan shall not limit or affect his or her benefits under or eligibility to participate in any other incentive or benefit plan or program of the Corporation or a Subsidiary.
- 7. *Qualified Options*. In addition to other applicable provisions of the Plan, all Qualified Options and Awards thereof shall be under and subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - (a) No Qualified Option shall be awarded more than ten (10) years after the date the Plan is adopted by the Board or the date the Plan is approved by the Corporation's shareholders, whichever is earlier.
 - (b) The time period during which any Qualified Option is exercisable, as determined by the Committee, shall not commence before the expiration of six (6) months or continue beyond the expiration of ten (10) years after the date the Qualified Option is awarded.
 - (c) If a participant, who was awarded a Qualified Option, ceases to be employed by the Corporation or any Subsidiary for any reason other than his or her death, the Committee may permit the participant thereafter to exercise the option during its remaining term for a period of not more than three (3) months after cessation of employment to the extent that the Qualified

Table of Contents

Option was then and remains exercisable, unless such employment cessation was due to the participant's disability, as defined in Code Section 22(e)(3) ("Disability"), in which case the three (3) month period shall be twelve (12) months. If the participant dies while employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiary, the Committee may permit the participant's qualified personal representatives, or any persons who acquire the Qualified Option pursuant to his or her will or laws of descent and distribution, to exercise the Qualified Option during its remaining term for a period of not more than twelve (12) months after the participant's death to the extent that the Qualified Option was then and remains exercisable. The Committee may impose terms and conditions upon and for the exercise of a Qualified Option after the cessation of the participant's employment or his or her death.

- (d) The purchase price of Shares subject to any Qualified Option shall not be less than the Shares' Fair Market Value (as defined below) at the time the Qualified Option is awarded.
- (e) Qualified Options may not be sold, transferred or assigned by the participant, except as determined by the Committee or as designated by the participant by will and the laws of descent and distribution.
- (f) At the time a Qualified Option is awarded, the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares subject thereto and of any Shares or other capital stock with respect to which Qualified Options first become exercisable by the participant during any calendar year under the Plan and any other plans of the Corporation or its affiliates, shall not exceed \$100,000.00 or such other amount as permitted by the Code.
- (g) No Qualified Option shall be awarded to any person if, at the time of the Award, the person owns shares of the stock of the Corporation possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Corporation or its affiliates, unless, at the time the Qualified Option is awarded, the purchase price of the Qualified Option is at least one hundred and ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the date of grant and the option, by its terms, is not exercisable after the expiration of five (5) years from the date it is awarded.
- (h) The shares granted pursuant to each Qualified Option shall be subject to the holding period requirements of Code Section 422.
- (i) Each Qualified Option shall be subject to such other and additional terms, conditions and provisions as the Committee may deem necessary or appropriate in order to qualify as a Qualified Option under Section 422 of the Code.
- (j) To the extent that a Qualified Option fails to be qualified under Code Section 422, then such Option shall be treated as a Non-Qualified Option.
- 8. *Non-Qualified Options*. In addition to other applicable provisions of the Plan, all Non-Qualified Options and Awards thereof shall be under and subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - (a) The time period during which any Non-Qualified Option is exercisable, as determined by the Committee, shall not commence before the expiration of six (6) months or continue beyond the expiration of ten (10) years after the date the Non-Qualified Option is awarded.
 - (b) If a participant, who was awarded a Non-Qualified Option, ceases to be eligible under the Plan, before lapse or full exercise of the option, the Committee may permit the participant to exercise the option during its remaining term, to the extent that the option was then and remains exercisable, or for such time period and under such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the Committee.

Table of Contents

- (c) The purchase price of a Share subject to any Non-Qualified Option shall not be less than the Share's Fair Market Value at the time the Non-Qualified Option is awarded.
- (d) Except as otherwise provided by the Committee, Non-Qualified Options granted under the Plan are not transferable, except as determined by the Committee or as designated by the participant by will and the laws of descent and distribution.
- 9. Stock Appreciation Rights. In addition to other applicable provisions of the Plan, all SARs and Awards thereof shall be under and subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - (a) SARs may be granted either alone, or in connection with another previously or contemporaneously granted Award (other than another SAR) so as to operate in tandem therewith by having the exercise of one affect the right to exercise the other, as and when the Committee may determine; however, no SAR shall be awarded in connection with a Qualified Option more than ten (10) years after the date the Plan is adopted by the Board or the date the Plan is approved by the Corporation's shareholders, whichever date is earlier.
 - (b) Each SAR shall entitle the participant to receive upon exercise of the SAR all or a portion of the excess of (i) the Fair Market Value at the time of such exercise of a specified number of Shares as determined by the Committee, over (ii) a specified price as determined by the Committee of such number of Shares that, on a per share basis, is not less than the Share's Fair Market Value at the time the SAR is awarded, or if the SAR is connected with another Award, such lesser percentage of the Share's purchase price thereunder as may be determined by the Committee.
 - (c) Upon exercise of any SAR, the participant shall be paid either in cash or in Shares, or in any combination thereof, as the Committee shall determine; if such payment is to be made in Shares, the number of shares thereof to be issued pursuant to the exercise shall be determined by dividing the amount payable upon exercise by the Share's Fair Market Value at the time of exercise.
 - (d) The time period during which any SAR is exercisable, as determined by the Committee, shall not commence before the expiration of six (6) months after the date the SAR is awarded; however, no SAR connected with another Award shall be exercisable beyond the last date that such other connected Award may be exercised.
 - (e) If a participant holding a SAR, before its lapse or full exercise, ceases to be eligible under the Plan, the Committee may permit the participant thereafter to exercise such SAR during its remaining term, to the extent that the SAR was then and remains exercisable, for such time period and under such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the Committee.
 - (f) No SAR shall be awarded in connection with any Qualified Option unless the SAR (i) lapses no later than the expiration date of such connected Qualified Option, (ii) is for not more than the difference between the Share's purchase price under such connected Qualified Option and the Share's Fair Market Value at the time the SAR is exercised, (iii) is transferable only when and as such connected Qualified Option is transferable and under the same conditions, (iv) may be exercised only when such connected Qualified Option may be exercised, and (v) may be exercised only when the Share's Fair Market Value exceeds the Share's purchase price under such connected Qualified Option.

Table of Contents

- 10. Stock Awards and Restricted Stock. In addition to other applicable provisions of the Plan, all Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Awards shall be under and subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - (a) Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee is authorized to grant Stock Awards to any Eligible Person in such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions as determined by the Committee.
 - (b) Shares issued pursuant to a Stock Award may be issued for consideration or no consideration, and may be subject to restrictions or no restrictions, as determined by the Committee. A Stock Award that is issued subject to restrictions is referred to in this Plan as "Restricted Stock."
 - (c) Restricted Stock shall consist of Shares that may be acquired by and issued to a participant at such time, for such or no purchase price, and under and subject to such transfer, forfeiture and other restrictions, conditions or terms as shall be determined by the Committee, including but not limited to prohibitions against transfer, and substantial risks of forfeiture within the meaning of Code Section 83, and attainment of performance or other goals, objectives or standards, all for or applicable to such time periods as determined by the Committee.
 - (d) Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Restricted Stock Award, a participant holding shares of Restricted Stock shall have all the rights as does a holder of Shares, including without limitation the right to vote such shares and receive dividends with respect thereto; however, during the time period of any restrictions, conditions or terms applicable to such Restricted Stock, the shares thereof and the right to vote the same and receive dividends thereon shall not be sold, assigned, transferred, exchanged, pledged, hypothecated, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except as permitted by the Plan or the Restricted Stock Award.
 - (e) Restricted Shares granted pursuant to the Plan shall be uncertificated or book-entry.
 - (f) Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, if a participant's employment with the Corporation or a Subsidiary ceases for any reason prior to the lapse of the restrictions, conditions or terms applicable to his or her Restricted Stock, all of the participant's Restricted Stock still subject to unexpired restrictions, conditions or terms shall be forfeited absolutely by the participant to the Corporation without payment or delivery of any consideration or other thing of value by the Corporation or its affiliates, and thereupon and thereafter neither the participant nor his or her heirs, personal or legal representatives, successors, assigns, beneficiaries, or any claimants under the participant's will or laws of descent and distribution, shall have any rights or claims to or interests in the forfeited Restricted Stock, or claims against the Corporation or its affiliates with respect thereto.
- 11. Stock Units and Restricted Stock Units. In addition to other applicable provisions of the Plan, all Awards of Stock Units and Restricted Stock Units shall be under and subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - (a) Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee may grant Stock Units to any Eligible Person, upon such terms and conditions as the Committee deems appropriate. Each Stock Unit shall represent the right of the Grantee to receive a Share or an amount in cash based on the value of a Share, upon such terms and conditions as the Committee deems appropriate.
 - (b) Stock Units may be issued for consideration or no consideration and may be subject to restrictions or no restrictions, as determined by the Committee. A Stock Unit that is issued subject to restrictions is referred to in this Plan as a Restricted Stock Unit.
 - (c) Stock Units may be granted under the Plan in connection with, and at the same time as, the grant of another Award to an Eligible Person, independently of any Award granted under the

Table of Contents

Plan or as otherwise determined by the Committee; however, a Stock Unit may not be granted in connection with, or by amendment to, a Qualified Option.

- (d) Stock Units may be paid at the end of a specified period, or payment may be deferred to a date authorized by the Committee in accordance with the deferral requirements set forth in Code Section 409A, to the extent applicable, provided that no restrictions shall lapse on Restricted Stock Units prior to the expiration of at least twelve (12) months from the date of grant (except that this limitation need not apply in the event of the death or Disability of the Grantee or as otherwise permitted by the Award Agreement).
- (e) Payment with respect to Stock Units shall be made in Shares, in cash, or in a combination of the two, as determined by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement. The Award Agreement shall specify the maximum number of Shares (which may be determined by a formula) that shall be paid under the Stock Units.
- 12. Performance Awards. In addition to other applicable provisions of the Plan, all Performance Awards shall be under and subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - (a) The Committee is authorized to grant Performance Awards to any Eligible Person payable in cash, in Shares, or in a combination thereof, on terms and conditions established by the Committee. The amount, terms and conditions of any Performance Award granted under the Plan shall be set forth in an Award Agreement, which shall contain provisions determined by the Committee. The Committee may provide in the Award Agreement that Awards shall be payable, in whole or in part, in the event of the Grantee's death or Disability, a change of control, or under other circumstances consistent with the Code.
 - (b) The performance goals to be achieved during any performance period shall be determined by the Committee upon the grant of each Performance Award, may be based upon performance criteria or any other criteria that the Committee, in its sole discretion, may determine, and may be particular to an Eligible Person or to the department, branch, Subsidiary or other unit in which the Eligible Person works, or may be based on the performance of the Corporation or a Subsidiary.
 - (c) The Committee shall determine whether, and the extent to which, the applicable performance goals have been achieved or satisfied and the amount of the Performance Awards that shall be distributed based upon such determination. Except as provided in an Award Agreement, Performance Awards shall be distributed only after the end of the relevant performance period. Performance Awards may be paid in a lump sum or in installments or, in accordance with procedures established by the Committee, on a deferred basis.
- 13. Payment of Directors' Fees. The Committee may permit, in its sole discretion, a Director of the Corporation or a Subsidiary to elect to receive all or any portion of his or her annual cash retainer payment from the Corporation or a Subsidiary in the form of Non-Qualified Options or Stock Awards. The number of Options or Stock Awards granted as a result of such election shall be determined by dividing the amount of foregone cash compensation by the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date the cash compensation would have otherwise been paid to the Director, or such other date as determined by the Committee. Such Options shall be issued under and subject to the terms of this Plan.
- 14. *Deferral*. The Committee may, at its sole discretion, allow selected Grantees to make elections to defer any or all of an amount otherwise payable in connection with an Award in accordance with the provisions of a deferred compensation plan, provided that the terms of the deferred compensation plan and the election to defer under this Plan comply with Code Section 409A.

Table of Contents

15. Exercise. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, Awards may be exercised in whole or in part by giving written notice thereof to the Secretary of the Corporation, or his or her designee, identifying the Award to be exercised, the number of Shares with respect thereto, and other information pertinent to exercise of the Award. The purchase price of the Shares with respect to which an Award is exercised shall be paid with the written notice of exercise, either in cash or in securities of the Corporation, including securities issuable hereunder, at its then current Fair Market Value, or in any combination thereof, as the Committee shall determine. Funds received by the Corporation from the exercise of any Award shall be used for its general corporate purposes.

The number of Shares subject to an Award shall be reduced by the number of Shares with respect to which the participant has exercised rights under the Award. If a SAR is awarded in connection with another Award, the number of Shares that may be acquired by the participant under the other connected Award shall be reduced by the number of Shares with respect to which the participant has exercised his or her SAR, and the number of Shares subject to the participant's SAR shall be reduced by the number of Shares acquired by the participant pursuant to the other connected Award.

The Committee may permit an acceleration of previously established exercise terms of any Awards as, when, under such facts and circumstances, and subject to such other or further requirements and conditions as the Committee may deem necessary or appropriate.

In addition:

- (a) if the Corporation or its shareholders execute an agreement to dispose of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets or capital stock by means of sale, merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or otherwise, as a result of which the Corporation's shareholders, as of immediately before the transaction, will not own at least fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of voting capital stock of the surviving entity (be it the Corporation or otherwise) immediately after the consummation of the transaction, then any and all outstanding Awards shall immediately become and remain exercisable or, if the transaction is not consummated, until the agreement relating to the transaction expires or is terminated, in which case, all Awards shall be treated as if the agreement was never executed; or
- (b) if there is an actual, attempted or threatened change in the ownership of at least thirty percent (30%) of any class of voting stock of the Corporation through the acquisition of, or an offer to acquire such percentage of the Corporation's voting stock by any person or entity, or persons or entities acting in concert or as a group, and such acquisition or offer has not been duly approved by the Board of Directors, then any and all outstanding Awards shall immediately become and remain exercisable.
- 16. Right of First Refusal. Each Award Agreement may contain a provision that requires as a condition to exercising a Qualified Option or a Non-Qualified Option that the participant agree prior to selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of any Shares obtained through the exercise of the Award to first offer the Shares to the Corporation for purchase. The terms and conditions of such right of first refusal shall be determined by the Committee in its sole and absolute discretion, provided that the purchase price shall be at least equal to the Share's Fair Market Value as determined under Paragraph 18 below, and shall be subject to all applicable federal and state laws, rules and regulations.
- 17. Taxes and Withholding. The issuance of Shares under the Plan shall be subject to any applicable taxes or other laws or regulations of the United States of America and any state or local authority having jurisdiction there over. When a participant exercises a stock option or SAR awarded under the Plan, the Corporation, in its discretion and as required by law, may require the participant to remit to the Corporation an amount sufficient to satisfy fully any federal, state and other jurisdictions' income and other tax withholding requirements prior to the delivery of Shares. The Corporation is authorized to withhold from any Award granted, any payment relating to an Award under the Plan,

Table of Contents

including from a distribution of Shares, or any payroll or other payment to a participant, amounts required to be withheld or accounted for and other taxes due or potentially payable in connection with any transaction involving an Award, and to take such other action as the Committee may deem advisable to enable the Corporation and the participant to satisfy obligations for the payment of such amounts and other tax obligations relating to any Award.

At the Committee's discretion, remittance may be made in cash, shares already held by the participant, or by the withholding by the Corporation of sufficient shares issuable pursuant to the Award to satisfy the participant's withholding obligation.

- 18. *Value*. Where used in the Plan, the "Fair Market Value" of Shares or any options or rights with respect thereto, including Awards, shall mean and be determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors by any of the following valuation methods:
 - (a) if the Shares are listed on an established securities market, the closing price on the trading day before the date of the grant or the arithmetic mean of the high and low prices on the trading day before the grant; or
 - (b) if the Committee determines that the Fair Market Value as determined by (a) above does not represent the Fair Market Value of the Shares, the Committee may consider such other factors as it deems appropriate and fix the Fair Market Value for the purposes of this Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall not set the Fair Market Value at any price other than as determined by (a) above unless (i) the Board or Committee shall have approved the methodology of establishing the purchase price, and (ii) the Board or Committee, at or prior to the time the grant is approved, shall also have approved a written description of the rationale and methodology by which the Fair Market Value is being determined and such methodology is applied consistently. Furthermore, the methodology approved under this subsection (b) shall comply with the determination of fair market value provided in Code Section 409A.
- 19. *Amendment.* To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Board may amend, modify, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time. The amendment, modification or termination of this Plan shall not, without the consent of the participants, alter or impair any rights or obligations under any Award previously granted hereunder, unless required by law.

From time to time, the Committee may delete, omit or waive any of the terms conditions or provisions that are no longer required by reason of changes of applicable laws, rules or regulations and the Committee may rescind, revise and add to any of the terms, conditions and provisions of the Plan or of an Award as necessary or appropriate to have the Plan and any Awards thereunder be or remain qualified and in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, including but not limited to the provisions of the Code, Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "1934 Act"), the rules and regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Corporation's stock is listed or quoted.

Additionally, it is intended that the Plan satisfy the requirements of Section 409A or an exception or exclusion therefrom to avoid the imposition of any accelerated or additional taxes pursuant to Section 409A. The Committee may amend or modify the terms and conditions of an Award to the extent that the Committee determines, in its sole discretion, that the terms and conditions of the Award violate or may violate Section 409A of the Code; provided, however, that unless the Committee determines otherwise, any such amendment or modification of an Award made pursuant to this Section 19 shall maintain, to the maximum extent practicable, the original intent of the applicable Award provision without contravening the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. The amendment or modification of any Award pursuant to this section shall be at the Committee's sole discretion and the Committee shall not be obligated to amend or modify any Award or the Plan, nor shall the

Table of Contents

Corporation be liable for any adverse tax or other consequences to a participant resulting from such amendments or modifications or the Committee's failure to make any such amendments or modifications for purposes of complying with Section 409A of the Code or for any other purpose. To the extent the Committee amends or modifies an Award pursuant to this section, the participant shall receive notification of any such changes to his or her Award, and unless the Committee determines otherwise, the changes described in such notification shall be deemed to amend the terms and conditions of the applicable Award and Award Agreement.

- 20. Continued Employment. Nothing in the Plan or any Award shall confer upon any participant or other persons any right to continue in the service of, employ of, or maintain any particular relationship with, the Corporation or its Subsidiaries, or limit or affect any rights, powers or privileges that the Corporation or its Subsidiaries may have to supervise, discipline, sever and/or terminate the participant. However, the Committee may require, as a condition of making and/or exercising any Award, that a participant agree to, and in fact provide services, either as a director, an employee or in another capacity, to or for the Corporation or any Subsidiary for such time period as the Committee may prescribe. The immediately preceding sentence shall not apply to any Qualified Option, to the extent such application would result in disqualification of the option under Code Sections 421 and 422.
- 21. General Restrictions. If the Committee or Board determines that it is necessary or desirable to: (a) list, register or qualify the Shares subject to the Award, or the Award itself, upon any securities exchange or under any federal or state securities or other laws, (b) obtain the approval of any governmental authority, or (c) enter into an agreement with the participant with respect to disposition of any Shares (including, without limitation, an agreement that, at the time of the participant's exercise of the Award, any Shares thereby acquired is being and will be acquired solely for investment purposes and without any intention to sell or distribute the Shares), then such Award shall not be consummated, in whole or in part, unless the listing, registration, qualification, approval or agreement, as the case may be, shall have been appropriately effected or obtained to the satisfaction of the Committee and legal counsel for the Corporation.
- 22. *Rights*. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, participants shall have no rights as a holder of the Shares unless and until the Shares are issued and delivered to the participant.
- 23. Adjustments. In the event that the Shares of the Corporation, as presently constituted, shall be changed into or exchanged for a different number or kind of Shares or other securities of the Corporation or of another corporation or entity (whether by reason of merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reclassification, split-up, combination of shares or otherwise) or if the number of such Shares shall be increased through the payment of a stock dividend, stock split or similar transaction, then, there shall be substituted for or added to each Share of the Corporation that was theretofore appropriated, or previously Awarded under the Plan, or which thereafter may become subject to an Award under the Plan, the number and kind of Shares or other securities into which each outstanding Share of the Corporation shall be so changed or for which each such Share shall be exchanged or to which each such Shares shall be entitled, as the case may be. Each outstanding Award shall be appropriately amended as to price and other terms, as may be necessary to reflect the foregoing events.

If there shall be any other change in the number or kind of the outstanding Shares of the Corporation, or of any Shares or other securities into which such Shares shall have been changed, or for which it shall have been exchanged, and if a majority of the Board of Directors shall, in its sole discretion, determine that such change equitably requires an adjustment in any Award that was theretofore granted or that may thereafter be granted under the Plan, then such adjustment shall be made in accordance with such determination.

The grant of an Award under the Plan shall not affect in any way the right or power of the Corporation to make adjustments, reclassifications, reorganizations or changes of its capital or business

Table of Contents

structure, to merge, to consolidate, to dissolve, to liquidate or to sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets.

Fractional shares resulting from any adjustment in Awards pursuant to this Section 23 may be settled as a majority of the members of the Board of Directors or of the Committee, as the case may be, shall determine.

To the extent that the foregoing adjustments relate to Shares or securities of the Corporation, such adjustments shall be made by a majority of the members of the Board or of the Committee, as the case may be, whose determination in that respect shall be final, binding and conclusive. The Corporation shall give notice of any adjustment to each holder of an Award that is so adjusted.

- 24. Forfeiture. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, if the Committee finds, after full consideration of the facts presented on behalf of the Corporation and the involved participant, that he or she has been engaged in fraud, embezzlement, theft, commission of a felony, or dishonesty and such action has damaged the Corporation or the Subsidiary, as the case may be, or that the participant has disclosed trade secrets of the Corporation or its affiliates, the participant shall forfeit all rights under and to all unexercised Awards, and under and to all exercised Awards under which the Corporation has not yet delivered payment or certificates for shares of Stock (as the case may be), all of which Awards and rights shall be automatically canceled. The decision of the Committee as to the cause of the participant's discharge from employment with the Corporation or any Subsidiary and the damage thereby suffered shall be final for purposes of the Plan, but shall not affect the finality of the participant's discharge by the Corporation or Subsidiary for any other purposes. The preceding provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to any Qualified Option to the extent such application would result in disqualification of the option as an qualified option under Code Sections 421 and 422.
- 25. Indemnification. In and with respect to the administration of the Plan, the Corporation shall indemnify each member of the Committee and/or of the Board and/or each person to whom the Committee has delegated authority under the Plan ("Delegate"), each of whom shall be entitled, without further action on his or her part, to indemnification from the Corporation for all damages, losses, judgments, settlement amounts, punitive damages, excise taxes, fines, penalties, costs and expenses (including without limitation attorneys' fees and disbursements) incurred by the member or the Delegate in connection with any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or other proceedings of any nature, whether civil, administrative, investigative or criminal, whether formal or informal, and whether by or in the right or name of the Corporation, any class of its security holders, or otherwise, in which the member or the Delegate may be or may have been involved, as a party or otherwise, by reason of his or her being or having been a member of the Committee and/or of the Board or their Delegate, whether or not he or she continues to be a member of the Committee or of the Board or a Delegate. The provisions, protection and benefits of this Section shall apply and exist to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law to and for the benefit of all present and future members of the Committee and/or of the Board and/or their Delegate and their respective heirs, personal and legal representatives, successors and assigns, in addition to all other rights that they may have as a matter of law, by contract, or otherwise, except (a) to the extent there is entitlement to insurance proceeds under insurance coverages provided by the Corporation on account of the same matter or proceeding for which indemnification hereunder is claimed, or (b) to the extent there is entitlement to indemnification from the Corporation, other than under this Section 25, on account of the same matter or proceeding for which indemnification hereunder is claim
- 26. Clawback. Any Award granted hereunder shall be subject to any clawback policy in effect at the Corporation or a Subsidiary, or as otherwise indicated in any Award Agreement.
- 27. Repricing. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the repricing of Options or SARs is prohibited without the prior approval of the Corporation's shareholders. For this purpose, a

Table of Contents

"repricing" means any of the following (or any other action that has the same effect as any of the following): (a) changing the terms of an Option or SAR to lower its purchase or grant price; (b) any other action that is treated as a "repricing" under generally accepted accounting principles; and (c) repurchasing for cash or canceling an Option or SAR at a time when its purchase or grant price is greater than the Fair Market Value of the underlying Shares in exchange for another Award, unless the cancellation and exchange occurs in connection with a change in capitalization or similar change under Section 23. Such cancellation and exchange would be considered a "repricing" regardless of whether it is treated as a "repricing" under generally accepted accounting principles and regardless of whether it is voluntary on the part of the participant.

28. Miscellaneous.

- (a) Any reference contained in this Plan to a particular section or provision of law, rule or regulation, including but not limited to the Code and the 1934 Act, shall include any subsequently enacted or promulgated section or provision of law, rule or regulation, as the case may be. With respect to persons subject to Section 16 of the 1934 Act, transactions under this Plan are intended to comply with all applicable conditions of Section 16 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, or any successor rules and regulations that may be promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and to the extent any provision of this Plan or action by the Committee fails to so comply, it shall be deemed null and void, to the extent permitted by applicable law and deemed advisable by the Committee.
- (b) Where used in this Plan, the plural shall include the singular, and unless the context otherwise clearly requires, the singular shall include the plural; and the term "affiliates" shall mean each and every Subsidiary and any parent of the Corporation.
- (c) The captions of the numbered sections contained in this Plan are for convenience only, and shall not limit or affect the meaning, interpretation or construction of any of the provisions of the Plan.
 - (d) This Plan is an unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Corporation.

75